COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE ILLINOIS FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE LABOR COUNCIL

REPRESENTING LOCAL 52

AND

THE VILLAGE OF GLENDALE HEIGHTS

MAY 1, 2024 THROUGH APRIL 30, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>ARTICLE</u>	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
ARTICLE 1	PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 2	RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 3	DUES DEDUCTION AND FAIR SHARE	
Section 3.1	Dues Deduction	1
Section 3.2	Dues	
Section 3.3	Fair Share	
ARTICLE 4	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 5	NO STRIKE	
Section 5.1	No Strike Commitment	
Section 5.2	Resumption of Operations	
Section 5.3	Local Liability	
Section 5.4	Discipline of Strikers	
ARTICLE 6	BILL OF RIGHTS	4
Section 6.1	Conduct of Disciplinary Investigation	4
Section 6.2	Disclosure	
Section 6.3	Discipline	
Section 6.4	Wages	
Section 6.5	Non-adoption of Ordinance	
Section 6.6	Photo Dissemination	
Section 6.7	Compulsion of Testimony	
Section 6.8	Right to Representation	6
Section 6.9	Citizen Complaints	6
ARTICLE 7	GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION	6
ARTICLE 8	LABOR-MANAGEMENT CONFERENCES	8
Section 8.1	Meetings	
Section 8.2	Exclusive of Grievance Procedure	
ARTICLE 9	LAY-OFF	
ARTICLE 10	INDEMNIFICATION	
Section 10.1	Legal Representation	
Section 10.2	Cooperation	
Section 10.3	Applicability	
ARTICLE 11	SENIORITY	10
Section 11.1	Definition of Seniority	
Section 11.2	Promotion	
Section 11.3	Seniority List	

Section 11.4	Termination of Seniority	10
Section 11.5	Unpaid Leave of Absence	11
ARTICLE 12	F.O.P. REPRESENTATIVES	11
Section 12.1	Grievance Processing	
Section 12.2	Delegates	
Section 12.2	Visitation	
Section 12.4	Right to Examine	
ARTICLE 13	SAFETY ISSUES	11
ARTICLE 14	BULLETIN BOARDS	12
ARTICLE 15	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
Section 15.1	Bereavement Leave/Death in Family	
Section 15.2	Definition of Family	
Section 15.3	Short Term Military Leave	
Section 15.4	Educational Leave	
Section 15.5	Injury Leave	
Section 15.6	Pregnancy – Reasonable Accommodation	13
Section 15.7	Family and Medical Leave Act	13
Section 15.8	Waiver of Paid Leave for All Workers Act	13
ARTICLE 16	SICK LEAVE	14
Section 16.1	Sick Leave	
Section 16.2	Abuse of Sick Leave	14
Section 16.3	Sick Leave at Time of Separation	
Section 16.4	Sick Leave Exhausted	
Section 16.5	Sick Leave Incentive	16
ARTICLE 17	WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION	16
Section 17.1	Assignment	16
Section 17.2	Extended Assignment	16
ARTICLE 18	HOLIDAYS	16
Section 18.1	Holidays	
Section 18.2	Holiday Time	
Section 18.3	Special Compensation Time	
Section 18.4	Personal Time	
ARTICLE 19	VACATIONS	
Section 19.1	Vacation Accrual	18
Section 19.2	Vacation Scheduling	18
ARTICLE 20	INSURANCE	
Section 20.1	Hospitalization	
Section 20.2	Life Insurance	
Section 20.3	Dental Insurance	
Section 20.4	Eligibility	
Section 20.5	Extended Coverage	21

Section 20.6	Retirees Health Insurance Study	21
Section 20.7	Health Insurance Opt Out Provisions	21
Section 20.8	IRS Section 125 Plan	
Section 20.9	Terms of Insurance Policies to Govern	22
ARTICLE 21	DISCIPLINE	22
Section 21.1	Discipline	
Section 21.2	Review of Recorded Media Files by Body-Worn Cameras (BWC)	
Section 21.3	Supervisory Body-Worn Camera Review	
Section 21.4	Viewing of Live View Function on Body-Worn Cameras	
ARTICLE 22	TUITION REFUND PROGRAM	
Section 22.1	Tuition Reimbursement Program	
Section 22.2	Financial Assistance	
Section 22.3	Exclusions/Limitations	
ARTICLE 23	UNIFORM AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE	26
Section 23.1	Quarter Master System	
Section 23.2	Detective Clothing Allowance	26
ARTICLE 24	HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	
Section 24.1	Application of Article	
Section 24.2	Normal Workday and Work Week	
Section 24.3	Normal Work Schedules	
Section 24.4	Normal Work Cycle	
Section 24.5	Changes in the Normal Workday or Normal Work Cycle	
Section 24.6	Overtime Pay	
Section 24.7	Court Time	
Section 24.8	Call-In Pay	
Section 24.9	Travel to Training	
Section 24.10	Compensatory Time	
Section 24.11	Field Training Officers (FTO)	
Section 24.12	Required Overtime	
Section 24.13	Independent Off-Duty Detail	33
ARTICLE 25	EMPLOYEE TESTING	
Section 25.1	Statement of Policy	
Section 25.2	Prohibitions	
Section 25.3	Drug and Alcohol Testing Permitted	
Section 25.4	Order to Submit to Testing	
Section 25.5	Tests to be Conducted	
Section 25.6	Right to Contest	
Section 25.7	Voluntary Requests for Assistance	
Section 25.8	Discipline	
ARTICLE 26	WAGES AND COMPENSATION	
Section 26.1	Wages	
Section 26.2	Pay Progression	
Section 26.3	Pay Scale	
Section 26.4	Detective Compensation	39

Section 26.5 Section 26.6	Canine Officer (K-9)
ARTICLE 27 Section 27.1 Section 27.2	DURATION39Term of Agreement39Reopener40
ARTICLE 28	SAVINGS CLAUSE 40
ARTICLE 29	RETIREMENT COMPENSATION 40
ARTICLE 30	RESIDENCY 41
ARTICLE 31	PHYSICAL FITNESS STANDARDS 41
ARTICLE 32	RESTRICTED DUTY 41
ARTICLE 33 Section 33.1 Section 33.2	NON-DISCRIMINATION41Equal Employment Opportunity41Use of Masculine Pronoun42
ARTICLE 34	PERSONNEL POLICIES 42
ARTICLE 35	PRODUCTIVITY STANDARDS 42
ARTICLE 36	COMPLETE AGREEMENT 42
APPENDIX A	DUES DEDUCTION 44
APPENDIX B	INDEMNITY/PPO PLAN 45
APPENDIX C	GRIEVANCE FORM 47
APPENDIX D	ILLINOIS LAW ENFORCEMENT TRAINING & STANDARDS BOARD
APPENDIX E	SIDE LETTER AGREEMENT CONCERNING DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

ARTICLE 1 PREAMBLE

This Agreement is entered into by and between the Village of Glendale Heights, an Illinois municipal corporation (herein referred to as the "Employer"), and the Glendale Heights, Local No. 52, Fraternal Order of Police (herein referred to as "Local"), affiliated with the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council (herein referred to as "Labor Council").

The purpose of this Agreement is to provide an orderly collective bargaining relationship between the Employer and the Local representing the employees in the bargaining unit, and to make clear the basic terms upon which such relationship depends. It is the intent of both the Employer and the Local to work together to provide and maintain satisfactory terms and conditions of employment, and to prevent as well as to adjust misunderstandings and grievances relating to employees wages, hours and working conditions.

In consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements contained herein, the parties hereto, by their duly authorized representative and/or agents, do mutually covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE 2 RECOGNITION

The Employer hereby recognizes the Glendale Heights, Local No. 52, Fraternal Order of Police, affiliated with the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining representative for the purpose of collective bargaining on any and all matters relating to wages, hours, and all other terms and conditions of employment of all officers in the bargaining unit. The bargaining unit shall include all sworn, non-probationary peace officers in the rank of Patrol Officer.

Positions EXCLUDED from the above described bargaining unit shall include:

All probationary peace officers, supervisory, managerial and confidential employees as defined in the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act and all other employees of the Village.

The parties hereto agree that sworn peace officers in the rank of Sergeant and above are not included in the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 3 DUES DEDUCTION AND FAIR SHARE

Section 3.1. Dues Deduction.

Upon receipt of a written and signed authorization form from an employee (Appendix A), the Employer shall deduct the amount of Labor Council dues and initiation fee, if any, set forth in such form and any authorized increase therein, and shall remit such deductions monthly to the Labor Council at the address designated by the Labor Council in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois. The Labor Council shall advise the Employer of any increase in dues, in writing, at least thirty (30) days prior to its effective date.

Section 3.2. Dues.

With respect to any officer on whose behalf the Employer receives written authorization in a form agreed upon by the Labor Council and the Employer, the Employer shall deduct from the wages of the officer the dues and/or financial obligation uniformly required and shall forward the full amount to the Labor Council by the tenth (10th) day of the month following the month in which the deductions are made. The amounts shall be deducted in accordance with the schedule to be submitted to the Employer by the Labor Council. Authorization for such deduction may be revoked by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the Employer and the Labor Council during this Agreement. The Employer will not similarly deduct dues in any other organization as to officers covered by this Agreement.

Section 3.3. Fair Share.

Any present officer who is not a member of the Local shall, as a condition of employment, be required to pay a fair share (not to exceed the amount of Labor Council dues) of the cost of the collective bargaining process, contract administration in pursuing matters affecting wages, hours and other conditions of employment, but not to exceed the amount of dues uniformly required of members. All officers certified on or after the effective date of this Agreement and who have not made application for membership shall, on or after the thirtieth (30th) day of their certification, also be required to pay a fair share as defined above.

With respect to any officer in whose behalf the Employer has not received a written authorization as provided for above, the Employer shall deduct from the wages of the officer, the fair share financial obligation, including any retroactive amount due and owing, and shall forward said amount to the Labor Council on the tenth (10th) day of the month following the month in which the deduction is made, subject only to the following:

- 1. The Labor Council has certified to the Employer that the affected officer has been delinquent in his obligation for at least thirty (30) days;
- 2. The Labor Council has certified to the Employer that the affected officer has been notified in writing of the obligation and the requirement for each provision of this Article and that the employee has been advised by the Labor Council of his obligations pursuant to this Article and of the manner in which the Labor Council has calculated the fair share fee;
- 3. The Labor Council has certified to the Employer that the affected officer has been given a reasonable opportunity to prepare and submit any objections to the payment and has been afforded an opportunity to have said objections adjudicated before an impartial arbitrator assigned by the employee and the Labor Council for the purpose of determining and resolving any objections the officer may have to the fair share fee.

The Labor Council shall indemnify and hold harmless the Village and its agents against any and all claims that arise out of or by reason of any action taken or not taken by the Village for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this Article.

The Labor Council further agrees to provide to the employees covered by the terms of this Agreement all necessary and relevant information regarding fair share objection resolution procedures.

ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Village retains the right to plan, direct, control and determine the budget and all the operations, services and missions of the Village; to supervise and direct the working forces; to establish the qualifications for employment and to employ employees; to schedule and assign work; to maintain a capable and efficient police force; to establish specialty positions and select personnel to fill them; to establish work and productivity standards; to assign overtime; to contract out for goods and services; to determine the methods, means, organization number of personnel by which such operations and services shall be made or purchased; to make, alter and enforce reasonable rules, regulations, orders, policies and procedures; to evaluate employees; to require the reasonable physical and mental fitness of employees; to establish performance standards for employees; to discipline for just cause; to change or eliminate existing methods, equipment or facilities or introduce new ones; to determine training needs and assign employees to training; to determine work hours (shift hours); to determine internal investigation procedures; to take any and all actions as may be necessary to carry out the mission of the Village and the Police Department in the event of civil emergency as may be declared by the Mayor, the Village Administrator, Police Chief or their authorized designees, (it is the sole discretion of the Mayor to determine that civil emergency conditions exist which may include, but not be limited to, riots, civil disorders, tornado conditions, floods or other catastrophes) and all other traditional rights to manage and direct the affairs of the Village and its employees, as provided by Section 4 of the IPLRA; and to carry out the mission of the Village, provided however, that the exercise of any of the above rights shall not conflict with any of the express written provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 NO STRIKE

Section 5.1. No Strike Commitment.

Neither the Local nor any officer will call, initiate, authorize, participate in, sanction, encourage, or ratify any work stoppage or the concerted interference with the full, faithful and proper performance of the duties of employment with the Employer during the term of this Agreement. Neither the Labor Council nor any officer shall refuse to cross any picket line, by whomever established while on duty.

Section 5.2. Resumption of Operations.

In the event of action prohibited by Section I above, the Labor Council immediately shall disavow such action and request the officers to return to work and shall use its best efforts to achieve a prompt resumption of normal operations. The Labor Council, including its officials and agents, shall not be liable for any damages, direct or indirect, upon complying with the requirements of this Article.

Section 5.3. Local Liability.

Upon the failure of the Labor Council to comply with the provisions of Section 2 above, any agent or official of the Labor Council who is an officer covered by this Agreement may be subject to the provisions of Section 4 below.

Section 5.4. Discipline of Strikers.

Any officer who violates the provisions of Section 1 of this article shall be subject to the Police Commission hearing and decisions.

ARTICLE 6 BILL OF RIGHTS

Section 6.1. Conduct of Disciplinary Investigation.

DEFINITIONS

OFFICER: Means any peace officer, as defined by 720 ILCS 5/2-13, as now or hereafter amended, who is employed by any unit of local government, including supervisory and command personnel. The term does not include crossing guards, parking enforcement personnel, traffic wardens or employees of any State's Attorney's Office.

INFORMAL INQUIRY: Means a meeting by supervisory or command personnel with an officer upon whom an allegation of misconduct has come to the attention of such supervisory or command personnel, the purpose of which meeting is to mediate a citizen complaint or discuss the facts to determine whether a formal investigation should be commenced.

FORMAL INVESTIGATION: Means the process of investigation ordered by a commanding officer during which the questioning of any officer is intended to gather evidence of misconduct which may be the basis for filing charges seeking his or her removal, discharge or suspension in excess of three (3) days.

INTERROGATION: Means the questioning of an officer pursuant to the formal investigation procedures of the respective unit of local governmental unit in connection with an alleged violation of such unit's rules which may be the basis for filing charges seeking his or her suspension, removal or discharge. The term does not include questioning (1) as part of an informal inquiry or (2) relating to minor infractions of agency rules which may be noted on the officer's record but which may not in themselves result in removal, discharge or suspension in excess of three (3) days.

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING: Means any non-judicial hearing which is authorized to recommend, approve or order the suspension, removal or discharge of an officer.

- a) No officer shall be subjected to interrogation without first being informed in writing of the nature of the investigation. If an administrative proceeding is instituted, the officer shall be informed beforehand of the names of all complainants. The information shall be sufficient to reasonably apprise the officer of the nature of the investigation.
- b) All interrogations shall be conducted at a reasonable time of day. Whenever the nature of the alleged incident and operational requirements permit, interrogations shall be conducted during the time when the officer is on duty.
- c) The officer shall be informed of the name, rank and unit or command of the officer in charge of the investigation, the interrogators, and all persons present during any interrogation except at a public administrative proceeding.
- d) Interrogation sessions shall be a reasonable duration and shall permit the officer interrogated reasonable periods for rest and personal necessities.
- e) The officer being interrogated shall not be subjected to professional or personal abuse, including offensive language.

- f) A complete record of any interrogation shall be made, and a complete transcript or copy shall be made available to the officer under investigation without charge and without undue delay. Such record may be electronically recorded.
- g) No officer shall be interrogated without first being advised in writing that admissions made in the course of the interrogation may be used as evidence of misconduct or as the basis for charges seeking suspension, removal or discharge; and without first being advised in writing that he or she has the right to counsel of his or her choosing who may be present to advise him or her at any stage of any interrogation.
- h) The officer under investigation shall have the right to be represented by counsel of his or her choosing and may request counsel at any time before or during interrogation. When such request for counsel is made, no interrogation shall proceed until reasonable time and opportunity are provided the officer to obtain counsel.
- i) Admissions or confessions obtained during the course of any interrogation not conducted in accordance with this Article may not be utilized in any subsequent disciplinary proceeding against the officer.
- j) In the course of any interrogation, no officer shall be required to submit to a polygraph test or any other test questioning by means of any chemical substance, except with the officer's expressed written consent or except as provided in Article 25. Refusal to submit to such tests shall not result in any disciplinary action nor shall such refusal be made part of his or her record.
- k) The rights of officers in disciplinary procedures set forth under this Article shall not diminish the rights and privileges of officers that are guaranteed to all citizens by the Constitution and laws of the United States and of the State of Illinois.
- 1) This Article does not apply to any officer charged with violating any provisions of the Criminal Code of 1961, or any federal, State, or local criminal law.
- m) No officer shall be discharged, disciplined, demoted, denied promotion or seniority, transferred, reassigned or otherwise discriminated against in regard to his or her employment, or be threatened with any such treatment as retaliation for or by reason of his or her exercise of the rights granted by this Article.

Section 6.2. Disclosure.

No law enforcement officer shall be required or requested to disclose any item of his property, income, assets, source of income, debts, or personal or domestic expenditures (including those of any member of his family or household) unless such information is necessary in investigating a possible conflict of interest with respect to the performance of his official duties, or unless such disclosure is required by law.

Section 6.3. Discipline.

If the investigation or interrogation of a law enforcement officer results in the recommendation of suspension or discharge, then the Employer shall follow the procedures set forth in Article 21 of this Agreement, which constitute an alternative or supplemental form of due process, as provided by 65 ILCS 5/10-2.1-17. The officer may be suspended or terminated, pending reinstatement and awarding of back pay,

as may be provided in any arbitrator's award regarding such discipline.

Section 6.4. Wages.

If any officer covered by this Agreement is charged by indictment or complaint to have violated any provision of the Criminal Code of Illinois or any Statute of the United States, he shall be entitled to his wages and other economic benefits provided for in this Agreement until such time as the Chief of Police or his/her designee terminates the officer, pursuant to Article 21 of this Agreement.

Section 6.5. Non-adoption of Ordinance.

The Employer shall not adopt any ordinance and the Police Department shall not adopt any regulation which prohibits the right of an officer to bring suit arising out of his duties as an officer.

Section 6.6. Photo Dissemination.

No photo of an officer under investigation shall be made available to the media prior to a conviction of a criminal offense or prior to a decision being rendered.

Section 6.7. Compulsion of Testimony.

The Police Department shall not compel an officer under investigation to speak or testify before, or to be questioned by any Civilian Review Board (excluding the Board of Police Commissioners) on any matter or issue under investigation.

Section 6.8. Right to Representation.

Nothing in this Labor Agreement is intended to or should be construed to waive employees' right to union representation during questioning that the employees reasonably believe may lead to discipline.

Section 6.9. Citizen Complaints.

The Village shall make a reasonable effort to have a citizen sign a complaint, whenever a citizen initiates a complaint.

ARTICLE 7 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

It is mutually desirable and hereby agreed that all grievances shall be handled in accordance with the following steps. For the purposes of this Agreement, a grievance is any dispute or difference of opinion raised by an employee or the Labor Council against the Employer involving the meaning, interpretation or application of the provisions of this Agreement. Any matter which is subject to the jurisdiction of the Police Commission established by law, except for discipline, as provided in Article 21 of this Agreement, shall not be a subject of grievance or arbitration under this Agreement. Any time period provided for under the steps in the grievance procedure may be mutually extended or contracted. The grievance meetings contemplated by Steps I, II or III of the grievance procedure shall be scheduled at a mutually agreed upon time with the Labor Council representative. If any such meeting is held when the grievant is off duty, then no additional compensation or overtime payment shall be made by the Employer to the grievant, local representatives or witnesses.

All grievances shall be reduced to writing and submitted on a form identical to that which appears in Appendix C of this Agreement. If a grievance is not answered by the Employer at Step One or Two, it shall be deemed settled in favor of the grievant.

STEP I: The employee, with or without a Council representative, may file in writing a grievance with the employee's immediate shift supervisor, holding the permanent rank of Sergeant or above, within seven (7) calendar days of its occurrence, or circumstances giving rise to a grievance when first known or should have been known by the grievant.

The shift supervisor shall schedule a meeting with the employee and/or Labor Council Representative (if desired by the grievant) in an attempt to adjust the matter within seven (7) calendar days of the filing of the grievance and shall answer the grievance in writing within seven (7) calendar days of the grievance filing. The shift supervisor must provide his answer to the grievance to both the grievant and the Council within this time period.

- STEP II: If not adjusted in Step One, the grievance shall be presented in writing by the Labor Council, through a Labor Council representative, to the Chief of Police within seven (7) calendar days following the receipt of the shift supervisor's written answer in Step One. The Chief of Police shall attempt to adjust the grievance as soon as possible, and therefore will schedule a meeting with the grievant, his immediate supervisor or Shift Commander, a Labor Council representative within seven (7) calendar days after receipt of the grievance from the Council. The Chief of Police shall then render a written decision to the grievance, based on the supplied information during the meeting, within seven (7) calendar days of the meeting. The Chief of Police must provide his answer to the grievance to the grievant, and mail a copy by certified mail or deliver his answer to the Labor Council and/or Local Representative within this time period.
- STEP III: If the grievance is not settled in Step Two, the grievance shall be advanced to the Village Administrator, if a written request is made by the Labor Council to the Village Administrator within seven (7) calendar days after the answer by the Chief of Police. The Village Administrator shall attempt to adjust the grievance as soon as possible, and therefore will schedule a meeting at a mutually agreeable time, with the grievant, a local representative and a Labor Council representative. The Administrator shall render a written decision to the grievant based upon the information supplied during the meeting, such decision to be issued within seven (7) calendar days of the conclusion of the meeting. The Administrator must provide his/her answer to the grievance to the grievant, the local representative and the Labor Council within this time period, otherwise the grievance shall be deemed denied.
- STEP IV: If the grievance is not settled in Step Three, the matter shall be referred for arbitration by written request by the Labor Council made within ten (10) calendar days of the answer by the Village Administrator in Step Three. Arbitration shall proceed in the following manner:
 - (1) The parties shall jointly request a list of seven (7) recognized arbitrators from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. Upon receipt of such list, each party shall alternately strike one (1) name from the list, until there is one name remaining. The remaining individual shall be the neutral arbitrator. A toss of the coin shall determine who strikes first, with the loser making the first strike.

- (2) The arbitrator shall promptly review the grievance and the information and decisions rendered at the various steps of the grievance procedures. The arbitrator shall confer with the parties to this grievance as necessary and shall hold a hearing. The scope of the hearing shall be at the sole discretion of the neutral arbitrator. The hearing shall be a closed hearing.
- (3) The arbitrator shall issue his decision not later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of closing of the hearing.
- (4) The decision of the arbitrators shall be in writing and shall set forth the findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions of the issues submitted.
- (5) The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding.
- (6) The cost of the neutral arbitrator shall be equally borne by the parties.
- (7) If the hearings cannot be held during the normal working hours of the grieved patrol officer, then no additional compensation or overtime payment shall be made by the Employer to either the grieved employee, witnesses or representatives of the Council. Otherwise all witnesses, grievant(s) and one (1) Labor Council representative shall be permitted to attend the grievance hearing on duty time without loss of pay if on duty.
- (8) The Arbitrator may interpret this Agreement but shall have no right to ignore, add to, take from, or modify any of the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 LABOR-MANAGEMENT CONFERENCES

Section 8.1. Meetings.

The Labor Council and the Employer mutually agree that in the interest of efficient management and harmonious employee relations, it is desirable that meetings be held between Local representatives and/or Labor Council representatives and responsible administrative representatives of the Employer. Such meetings may be requested at least seven (7) days in advance by either party by placing in writing a request to the other for a "labor-management conference" and expressly providing the agenda for such meeting. Such meetings shall be limited to:

- (a) Discussion on the implementation and general administration of this agreement.
- (b) A sharing of general information of interest to the parties.
- (c) Notifying the Labor Council of changes in non-bargaining conditions of employment contemplated by the Employer which may affect employees.

The Employer and the Council agree to cooperate with each other in matters of the administration of this Agreement.

To effectuate the purposes and intent of the parties, both parties agree to meet as necessary.

Section 8.2. Exclusive of Grievance Procedure.

It is expressly understood and agreed that such meetings shall be exclusive of the grievance procedure. Grievances being processed under the grievance procedure shall not be considered at "labor-management conferences," nor shall negotiations for the purpose of altering any or all of the terms of this Agreement be carried on at such meetings.

ARTICLE 9 LAY-OFF

Where there is an impending lay-off with respect to the officers in the bargaining unit, the employer shall inform the Labor Council in writing no later than thirty (30) days prior to such lay-off, and will provide the Labor Council with the names of all officers to be laid off. Probationary police officers, auxiliary officers, community service officers, and any part-time officers shall be laid off first, then certified officers covered by this Agreement shall be laid off in accordance with their seniority. The officers with the least amount of seniority shall be laid off first. All officers shall receive notice in writing of the lay-off at least thirty (30) days in advance of the effective date of such lay-offs.

No employee will be hired to perform those duties normally performed by an officer while any officer is on lay-off status and the use of any civilian employees in the Police Department shall not escalate while a full-time officer is on lay-off.

Any officer who has been laid off shall be placed on the appropriate reinstatement list and shall be recalled on the basis of seniority in the police department, with the most senior officers being recalled first. Notices of recall shall be sent by certified or registered mail to the last known address as shown on the Employer's records. The recall notice shall state the time and date on which the officer is to report back to work.

It shall be the officer's responsibility to keep the Employer notified as to his/her current mailing address. A recalled officer shall be given seven (7) calendar days from receipt of notice to respond, and eight (8) additional days to report to work. The Employer may fill the position on a temporary basis until the recalled officer reports to work. An officer who declines recall to full-time work shall forfeit his/her seniority rights and be bumped to the bottom of the recall list. If the officer declines recall a second and subsequent time, provided the recall requests are over sixty (60) days apart, the officer's name shall be stricken from the recall list. In any event, an officer's right to reinstatement shall cease after thirty-six (36) months of continuous lay-off. If all officers on the recall list decline recall, the Village may fill the vacant position on a permanent basis.

ARTICLE 10 INDEMNIFICATION

Section 10.1. Legal Representation.

The Employer shall be responsible for, hold officers harmless from and pay for damages or moneys which may be adjudged, assessed or otherwise levied against any officer covered by this agreement, except as otherwise provided by law. Officers shall have legal representation by the Employer in any civil cause of action brought against an officer resulting from or arising out of the performance of duties.

Section 10.2. Cooperation.

Officers shall be required to cooperate with the Employer during the course of the investigation, administration or litigation of any claim arising under this Article.

Section 10.3. Applicability.

The Employer will provide the protections set forth in Section 1 and Section 2 above, so long as the officer is acting within the scope of his employment and where the officer cooperates, as defined in Section 2, with the Employer in defense of the action or actions or claims.

ARTICLE 11 SENIORITY

Section 11.1. Definition of Seniority.

As used herein, the term "seniority" shall refer to and be defined as the continuous length of service or employment from the date of last hire as a sworn peace officer by the Village of Glendale Heights. In case of officers hired on the same date, seniority shall be determined by referring to the final patrol officers eligibility list from which they were hired.

Section 11.2. Promotion.

Seniority shall be considered in the promotion of officers covered by this Agreement. In considering officers for promotion, seniority shall in competitive testing, be utilized as a tiebreaker. Except for bargaining unit members hired before January 1, 1998, bargaining unit members must have at least five (5) years or more experience as a Police Officer for the Village of Glendale Heights before they qualify for competitive testing for the position of Sergeant.

Section 11.3. Seniority List.

The Employer shall prepare a list setting forth the present seniority dates for all officers covered by this Agreement and shall become effective on or after the date of execution of this Agreement. Such lists shall finally resolve all questions of seniority affecting officers covered under this Agreement. On May 1st of each year, the Employer shall furnish the Local with a current seniority list.

Section 11.4. Termination of Seniority.

An employee's seniority shall be broken when he:

- (a) quits, retires or is lawfully retired; or
- (b) is discharged for just cause; or
- (c) is laid off pursuant to the provisions of the applicable Article for a period of thirty-six (36) months; or
- (d) accepts gainful employment while on an approved leave of absence from the Police Department (other than a continuation of employment that the employee had prior to going on an approved leave of absence), unless otherwise approved by the Chief of Police.

Section 11.5. Unpaid leave of Absence.

Employees will not continue to accrue seniority credit for all time spent on an authorized unpaid leave of absence in excess of sixty (60) days, but will not lose seniority accrued at the time the leave commences. Employees on disability pension are considered to be on unpaid leave of absence for the purposes of this Section.

<u>ARTICLE 12</u> F.O.P. REPRESENTATIVES

The Employer shall be notified in writing of the names of the designated local Council Representatives. For the purposes of administering and enforcing the provisions of this Agreement, the Employer agrees as follows:

Section 12.1. Grievance Processing.

A Labor Council representative shall be allowed up to thirty (30) minutes on duty to prepare or process a grievance without loss of pay. Such activities shall be subject to the shift supervisor's approval in advance and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Such activities shall be conducted in the police station in space provided by the Employer.

Section 12.2. Delegates.

Any employee(s) chosen as delegate(s) to an F.O.P. State or National Conference may, upon written application approved by the Labor Council and submitted to the Village with at least thirty (30) days notice, be given a leave of absence without pay for the period of time required to attend such convention or conference, so long as such leave does not adversely affect operational requirements. This period of time shall not exceed one (1) week. No more than one (1) employee per operational unit may be given leave to attend such conventions.

Section 12.3. Visitation.

Authorized representatives of the National or State Lodge, and the Labor Council shall be permitted to visit the Department during working hours to talk with officers of the local Labor Council and/or representatives of the Employer concerning matters covered by this Agreement. Such visitation shall not interfere with the operations of the department.

Section 12.4. Right to Examine.

The Labor Council shall have the right to examine time sheets and other records pertaining to the computation of compensation of any employee whose pay is in dispute or any other records of the employee pertaining to a specific grievance, at reasonable times with the employee's consent. Such visitation shall not interfere with the operations of the department.

ARTICLE 13 SAFETY ISSUES

The Labor Council shall designate a member to serve on the Village Safety Committee, who shall attend the regular and special meetings of said committee. The Labor Council shall inform the Chief of Police, in writing, as to the name of the designee and his/her term of service on said committee. The designee

1220880,1

of the Labor Council shall earn his applicable hourly rate for the time spent in attendance at all regular and special meetings of the Safety Committee. In the event the Labor Council's designee fails to attend any meeting of said committee, such action may be subject to discipline by the Chief of Police.

ARTICLE 14 BULLETIN BOARDS

The Labor Council may place informational material on agency or department bulletin boards provided:

- (a) the Local and/or Labor Council is clearly identified in the material;
- (b) the contents of the material related to activities of the Local and/or Labor Council are not partisan, political or defamatory in nature;
- (c) the Local and/or Labor Council assumes all costs incidental to preparation or distribution of the material;
- (d) the Local and/or Labor Council advises management in advance and does not interrupt Employer operations.

ARTICLE 15 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Section 15.1. Bereavement Leave/Death in Family.

The Employer agrees to provide to officers leave without loss of pay as a result of death in the immediate family, not to exceed three (3) days, and one (1) day as a result of death in the related family. This may be extended to one (1) week by the Chief.

Section 15.2. Definition of Family.

A member of the immediate family shall be defined to be any officer's mother, father, wife, husband, daughter or son (including step or adopted), sister or brother (including half or step), father-in-law, mother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, grandparent or grandchild, or civil partner as defined by Illinois law.

A member of the related family shall include aunts, uncles, nieces, nephews, spouse's grandparents, brothers-in-law, sisters-in-law, and any household members.

Section 15.3. Short Term Military Leave.

Full-time and part-time employees who are called for military training or service shall be granted a leave of absence without pay from their positions during the actual duration of such service, or shall be compensated as may be provided by law then in effect. These employees shall receive credits towards retirement and longevity during the actual duration of such service. If summer reserve training is scheduled with an employee's vacation leave, the employee shall receive the appropriate vacation leave pay.

Resumption of Duties – Employees who are absent from military service shall be entitled to reinstatement pursuant to the provisions of the Uniformed Services Employment and Re-Employment Rights

Act ("USERRA"). In summary, USERRA provides that employees who are absent for military service of less than thirty-one (31) days must report back to work not later than the beginning of the first regularly-scheduled work period on the first full calendar day following completion of the military service, and the expiration of eight (8) hours, or as soon as possible after the expiration of the eight (8) hour period if reporting within the period referred to is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of the person. Employees who are absent for military service for more than thirty (30) days but less than one hundred eighty-one (181) days must submit an application for re-employment (written or oral) not later than one hundred eighty (180) days must submit an application for re-employment (written or oral) no later than ninety (90) days after completing service.

The parties acknowledge that the foregoing is just a summary and that both parties retain any other rights available under USERRA or the law.

Section 15.4. Educational Leave.

Employees covered by the terms of this Agreement may be granted, upon written request, a Leave of Absence, without pay, not to exceed a period of one (1) year, after authorization from the Chief.

Section 15.5. Injury Leave.

An officer who sustains injuries or illness arising out of and in the course of his employment shall be covered by the provisions of 5 ILCS 345/1 of the Illinois Compiled Statutes. No officer will lose any benefits while injured on duty, and will continue to accumulate all benefits provided by this Agreement, unless the officer is granted a disability pension.

Section 15.6. Pregnancy – Reasonable Accommodation.

An officer shall be required to notify the Chief of Police in writing as soon as she learns of her pregnancy, and shall also submit a statement from her doctor, which verifies that said officer is pregnant. The Employer shall not require an officer affected by pregnancy, childbirth, or medical or common conditions related to pregnancy or childbirth to accept an accommodation, when the officer did not request an accommodation and the officer chooses not to accept the Employer's accommodation. If the officer requests an accommodation, the Employer may require only the medical justification for the requested accommodation or accommodation or accommodation or accommodations became medically advisable, and the probable duration of the reasonable accommodation or accommodations. It is the duty of the officer seeking a reasonable accommodation or accommodations to submit to the Employer any documentation that is requested in accordance with this paragraph. The officer and Employer shall engage in a timely, good faith, and meaningful exchange to determine effective reasonable accommodations. Notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph, the Employer may require documentation by the officer's health care provider to determine compliance with other laws.

The Employer shall not require an officer to take leave under any leave law or policy of the Employer, if another reasonable accommodation can be provided to the known medical or common conditions related to the pregnancy or childbirth of the officer.

Such officer shall further be required to return to regular duty when the employee is deemed medically able to by the employee's doctor and/or the Village's doctor, unless the employee requests and is granted a leave pursuant to the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 or any other law.

Section 15.7. Family and Medical Leave Act.

Effective February 5, 1994, any "eligible employee," as that term is defined under the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (29 USC Sec. 2261 *et seq.*), shall be entitled to a total of twelve (12) work weeks of leave during any twelve (12) month period in accordance with the terms and provisions of said Act. The employee should provide the Chief of Police or his designee thirty (30) calendar days notice if possible before taking such leave, or shall provide such notice as is practicable. An eligible employee must substitute, in order, any of the accrued paid sick leave, compensatory time, personal leave, and vacation leave, for leave provided under the Act, or any part of the twelve (12) week period for such leave, in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Village's Family and Medical Leave Policy. In all other respects, the employee and the Village shall comply with the provisions of the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 and the regulations issued in conjunction with the FMLA.

Section 15.8. Waiver of Paid Leave for All Workers Act.

In consideration of the Village agreeing to provide paid sick leave, vacation leave, personal leave and bereavement leave, bargaining unit members hereby waive the paid leave provided by the Paid Leave for All Workers Act (820 ILCS 192/1), and all provisions of said Act.

ARTICLE 16 SICK LEAVE

Section 16.1. Sick Leave.

Sick leave shall be credited to all regular employees at the rate of eighty (80) hours per year, as of January 1 of each calendar year. Sick leave may be accumulated up to a maximum of 1,000 hours. After December 31, 2013, any employee who has accrued 1,000 hours of sick leave shall be entitled to a payment for such accrued sick leave earned but unused in that given year in excess of 1,000 hours, at the rate of 100% per day of sick leave, and such payment shall be deposited into the employee's RHS account.

Sick leave shall not be considered as a privilege which employees may use at their discretion but shall be allowed only in case of:

- (a) Necessity and actual sickness or disability of the employee.
- (b) Because of illness, birth or death in his immediate family.
- (c) To meet dental and/or medical appointments.
- (d) To take physical examinations or other sickness prevention measures.

To receive compensation while absent on sick leave, an officer shall notify the on-duty sergeant at least sixty (60) minutes before the officer's shift shall begin unless excused by the Division Commander. When absent claiming sick leave on three (3) or more consecutive duty days an officer may be required to file a physician's statement.

Any employee who is absent from work for sickness on three (3) or more consecutive duty days may be required to provide a physician's certificate indicating that the employee is able to resume normal work duties. In addition, any employee whose regular shift is twelve (12) hours in length who is absent from work for sickness for two or more consecutive duty days two or more times within a rolling twelve (12) month period may be required to provide a physician's certificate indicating that the employee is able to resume normal work duties.

Section 16.2. Abuse of Sick Leave.

Abuse of sick time is irregular attendance, including but not limited to the following:

- \$ Pattern of excessive sick leave use; or
- Continued pattern of sick leave use coinciding with vacation, holiday or regular time off; or
- \$ Repeated failure to notify communication center of sick leave within 60 minutes of start time; or
- Supervisor continuously unable to contact employee while employee is using sick time; or
- \$ Failure to provide physician's certificate when applicable; or
- \$ Employee engaging in other employment while on sick leave with the Village of Glendale Heights.

If an employee abuses sick leave, proof shall be required to be furnished by the individual employee for every absence, regardless of the number of consecutive days absent, for the following 12-month period. The employee will not be permitted to return to work until a physician certificate is submitted. Prior to use of this control, the employee concerned will be counseled and notified of the constraint being placed upon the use of sick time.

Sick leave abuse shall be reflected in the employee's performance evaluation, and may be the basis for disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. Progressive disciplinary action shall consist of an oral reminder, written reminder, a decision making leave, a three-month probationary review and dismissal within any twelve-month period.

Falsely claiming sick leave or reporting sickness as an excuse for absence shall result in discipline, up to and including discharge depending on the circumstances of the offense.

Section 16.3. Sick Leave At Time of Separation.

If an employee has unused accrued sick time when separated in good standing by the Village, the following guide for the unused accrued sick time should be used:

(a) A full time employee who has five (5) years of service but less than ten (10) years of service is entitled to a cash payment of unused accrued sick time at the rate of one-half (1/2) hour per accrued hour of sick leave, not to exceed two hundred forty (240) full hours of pay at the employee's current rate of pay.

- (b) A full time employee who has between ten (10) and less than fifteen (15) years of service is entitled to a cash payment of unused accrued sick time at the rate of one-half (1/2) hour per accrued hour of sick leave, not to exceed four hundred eighty (480) full hours of pay at the employee's current rate of pay.
- (c) All employees with at least fifteen (15) years of service shall deposit the value of 50% of accumulated sick leave into a Health Reimbursement Account ("HRA") at separation from the Employer at their current rate of pay.
- (d) All employees hired before May 1, 2010, with at least twenty (20) years as a sworn police officer of the Village shall, in lieu of paragraph (c) above, if separated in good standing from the Village, be entitled to a payment of accrued sick leave, not to exceed 1,000 hours, at 100% of their hourly rate of pay, such payments to be deposited into the Employee's HRA, at the time of separation from employment.
- (e) All employees hired on or after May 10, 2010, with at least twenty (20) years as a sworn police officer of the Village shall, in lieu of paragraph (c) above, if separated in good standing from the Village, be entitled to a payment for any accrued sick leave up to 500 hours at the rate of one-half hour per accrued hour of sick leave, and a payment for any accrued sick leave in excess of 500 hours (not to exceed payment for 500 hours, *i.e.*, accrued hours between 500-1000) at 100% of their hourly rate of pay, such payments to be deposited into the Employee's HRA, at the time of separation from employment.

Section 16.4. Sick Leave Exhausted.

Effective May 1, 2006, bargaining unit employees shall be eligible for the Short Term Disability benefit described in Section 8.3.11 of the Village's Personnel Policy Manual once every five (5) years. If an employee exhausts his/her sick leave before he/she is able to return to work, the employee may, upon the approval of the Chief of Police, use accumulated vacation leave before being removed from the payroll and subsequently transferred to disability benefits under the pension or retirement plan which has jurisdiction. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude any employee from being able to collect from said disability or retirement plans.

Section 16.5. Sick Leave Incentive.

Employees covered by this Agreement shall be entitled to compensation from the Employer for unused sick hours, according to the following conditions: To be eligible for compensation, an employee must have accrued two (2) times the number of sick hours available for buyback. An employee can request compensation for no more than one-half (1/2) of the sick hours which have been earned during that year of service. The Employer shall establish the date for buyback of sick hours, and the employee shall be entitled to be compensated at fifty percent (50%) of the employee's then current rate of pay for each sick hour turned back to the Employer. Any officer who seeks to receive compensation pursuant to this paragraph shall be required to notify the Human Resources Department in writing prior to the second payroll in January of that officer's intention to buy back unused sick hours.

ARTICLE 17 WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION

Section 17.1. Assignment.

An employee temporarily assigned to the duties of a position classification in an equal or lower pay grade than his/her permanent position classification shall be paid his/her permanent position classification rate. If the employee is temporarily assigned to a position classification having a higher pay grade than his/her permanent position classification, the employee shall be paid the greater of either (1) the employee's current pay grade or (2) the pay grade of the entry level higher classification.

In order to qualify for temporary assignment pay, the employee must work six (6) consecutive workdays or more in the higher level position classification. The use of any accrued time (*i.e.*, vacation, sick, personal business, holidays) shall be at the employee's normal rate of pay. Except for training periods of five (5) days or less, the Employer agrees not to rotate temporary assignments within the bargaining unit for the purposes of avoiding temporary assignment pay.

Section 17.2. Extended Assignment.

When an officer is required to assume the duties and responsibilities of a rank higher than that which he normally holds for any accumulated total of at least six (6) months in any calendar year, he shall be paid the rate for the higher rank for his vacation period with any necessary adjustments to be made at the end of the calendar year.

ARTICLE 18 HOLIDAYS

Section 18.1. Holidays.

The following days shall be recognized as holidays:

New Year's DayChristmas EvePresidents DayVeterans DayMemorial Day ObservedThanksgiving DayIndependence DayDay after ThanksgivingLabor DayChristmas Day

Section 18.2. Holiday Time.

(a) On the first day of each calendar year, officers shall be credited with eight (8) hours of Holiday Time for each of the holidays specified in Section 18.1 of this Agreement (80 hours annually). Holiday Time shall be placed in a separate Holiday Time bank. Requests to use Holiday Time for time off may be made only for one or more of the holiday specified in Section 18.1 (the day of the actual holiday, not the date on which the holiday Time on a holiday may be submitted in conjunction with the annual vacation picks, provided that such holiday is contiguous to a vacation selection. Otherwise, all requests to use Holiday Time on a holiday must be submitted in writing no more than thirty (30) days and at least seven (7) days prior to the date requested, and such requests to use Holiday Time shall be subject to manpower limitations. Except for Holiday Time granted in conjunction with the annual vacation picks, all requests to use Holiday Time shall be determined on a first come basis, with seniority being the deciding factor, if the Village must choose between multiple

requests submitted for use on the same date for the identical time off. In addition, requests to use Holiday Time on Christmas or Christmas Eve must be submitted prior to December 1st of each year. Any use of Holiday Time shall be deducted from the Holiday Time bank (*e.g.*, 80 hours), based on hour for hour of the Holiday Time utilized by such officer. Holiday Time may not be carried over past December 31, and any remaining Holiday Time that was not used for time off on a holiday specified in Section 18.1 shall be paid to the employee by separate check in the second paycheck of January, at the employee's regular rate of pay that was in effect on December 31st.

Notwithstanding the above, officers may elect to be paid for Holiday Time for any of the holidays listed in Section 18.1 of this Agreement on which the officer worked, such payment to be equal to the number of hours actually worked by the officer on such holiday. Any officer electing to receive pay for Holiday Time for a holiday on which the officer worked shall be required to provide notice of such election to the officer's supervisor, at least 72 hours in advance of such holiday.

- (b) Employees who separate from the Department or bargaining unit prior the end of the calendar year shall be paid for unused Holiday Time on a prorated basis, based upon the number of holidays which have occurred prior to the date of separation.
- (c) Employees assigned to the Investigations Division (*i.e.*, detectives; special operations; school resource officers; DEA; and DUMEG) will have their holidays scheduled off by the Employer and such applicable time will be deducted from their Holiday Time bank.
- (d) Employees who work on any holiday specified in Section 18.1, whether regularly scheduled or called in to work, shall be paid a rate of double time for all hours worked on such holiday. ("Hours worked on a holiday," except for New Year's Day, shall be defined as hours worked, if the shift or overtime assignment began on such holiday. For New Year's Day, the Night Shift and Afternoon Power Shift beginning on New Year's Eve shall receive premium pay, instead of the Night Shift and Afternoon Power Shift beginning on New Year's Day.)

Section 18.3. Special Compensation Time.

If as a result of a declaration by the Village President, the Village Administrator or the Assistant Village Administrator, all employees of the Village except for Police Department employees are given a day off or portion thereof with pay, then all officers who are required to work during such excused time shall be given compensatory time off at straight time rate equivalent to the hours worked during such excused time.

Section 18.4. Personal Time.

All employees covered by the terms of this Agreement shall also receive thirty-two (32) hours of personal time each calendar year (effective January 1, 2025, thirty-six (36) hours of personal time each calendar year). All requests for personal time must be submitted in writing no more than thirty (30) days in advance and at least seven (7) days prior to the date requested, unless the selection is made in conjunction with a vacation pick and the personal time is contiguous to a vacation selection. Except as described above, all personal time shall be selected on a first-come basis, with seniority being the deciding factor only if the Village must choose between multiple requests submitted on the same date for the identical time-off. Personal leave shall be used in no less than four (4) hour increments, unless the use of personal time is pursuant to section 24.9(d), or if an employee has less than four (4) hours of personal time remaining, the employee must use all remaining personal time. Permission to use personal time shall not be unreasonably denied if operational needs will not be adversely affected. Minimum manning requirements shall not be determinative on this issue. When personal time off is granted, the Employer shall not require an employee to

remain on standby status, unless the employee is required to appear in court. However, if the employee contacts the State's Attorney's Office and receives permission to be absent from court, the employer shall not require the employee to remain on standby status.

ARTICLE 19 VACATIONS

Section 19.1. Vacation Accrual.

All employees in the bargaining unit shall earn vacation leave on the basis of their years of service as an employee of the Village of Glendale Heights. All employees in the bargaining unit shall accrue their vacation time in a lump sum at the beginning of each calendar year. Those employees who reach their anniversary date during a year in which they are entitled to an increase in vacation time must take such time after their anniversary date, but may nonetheless carry over such time to the next calendar year for up to twelve (12) months from the anniversary date with notice to the Chief of Police. Otherwise an employee shall use his vacation time within the calendar year and may not carry such time over without express permission of the Chief of Police. Employees who are receiving a disability pension shall not receive credit for additional service as an employee while such employee is on disability leave until such employee returns to active duty.

Employees shall be entitled to vacation time with pay under the following schedule:

Vacation Time EARNED
80 hours
120 hours
160 hours
200 hours
240 hours

Section 19.2. Vacation Scheduling.

Vacation schedules shall require prior approval by the Employer. Officers covered by this Agreement shall request the periods of their annual vacation on the basis of seniority, with the most senior officers having priority selections, provided that only one employee from the same shift team will be allowed off on vacation at the same time, except that no vacation shall be permitted during Glendale Heights Fest. (In the event that there are seven or more employees assigned to the same shift team and actively working (*i.e.*, not on injury/illness leave or worker's compensation leave) at the time of the annual vacation selection, two employees from the same shift team will be allowed off on vacation at the same time, subject to the Glendale Heights Fest prohibition.)

Once approved, vacations shall not be canceled absent emergency condition and the selection process shall not be affected by the vacations of non-bargaining unit employees. The Employer agrees to post an annual schedule on December 1st each year, and to permit officers to commence vacation selections on January 1st thereafter. Employees shall be required to select their vacation days within four (4) consecutive duty days or be bumped to the bottom of the selection rotation. Employees may utilize vacation in single day increments, provided, full week selections shall take precedence over single day selections. Although the Employer reserves the right to cancel any vacation for emergency reasons, the Employer shall reimburse any employee whose vacation was canceled for all documented, unreimbursable, economic losses.

Except as provided in Section 19.1 regarding the year of an increase in vacation time, vacation time must be used within the calendar year in which they are awarded, or else they shall be forfeited. Notwithstanding the above, an employee may request that he/she be permitted to carry-over not more than forty (40) vacation hours into the first three (3) months of the next calendar year, and if the request is approved by the Chief of Police or his/her designee, such vacation hour(s) must be used by March 31st or else shall be forfeited. When approved by the Chief of Police, an employee may request to "float" (not schedule during the annual vacation selection period), up to forty (40) vacation hours to be scheduled and used during that calendar year.

ARTICLE 20 **INSURANCE**

Section 20.1. Hospitalization.

The Employer's present complete basic hospitalization programs covering all employees, including police officers and their dependents, shall continue in effect. On an annual basis, the Employer shall designate its basic health care plan. For employees hired as full-time police officers prior to July 1, 2013, the Employer agrees to pay 90% of the premium thereof for single coverage for each employee, and the employee shall pay 10% of the premium for such single coverage, for either the indemnity/PPO plan or the HMO plan. Bargaining unit employees hired as full-time police officers prior to July 1, 2013 electing dependent coverage will contribute an amount equal to 15% of the dependent coverage insurance premium of either the indemnity/PPO plan or the HMO plan.

For bargaining unit employees hired as full-time police officers on or after July 1, 2013, and before August 1, 2015, the Employer agrees to pay 90% of the premium thereof for single coverage for each employee and the employee shall pay 10% of the premium for single coverage for the Employer's designated basic health care plan, which shall be designated by the Employer on an annual basis. Bargaining unit employees hired on or after July 1, 2013 and before August 1, 2015, electing dependent coverage will contribute an amount equal to 15% of the portion of the dependent coverage of the Employer's designated basic health care plan. Such bargaining unit members wishing to elect coverage in a health care plan provided by the Employer other than the Employer's designated basic health care plan for either single or dependent coverage may do so, but the employee shall be responsible to pay 100% of the premium in excess of the premium for the Employer's designated basic health care plan premium, in addition to the percentages set forth hereinabove.

For bargaining unit employees hired on or after August 1, 2015, the Employer agrees to pay eightyfive percent (85%) of the premium thereof for single coverage for each employee and the employee shall pay fifteen percent (15%) of the premium for single coverage for the Employer's designated basic health care plan, which shall be designated by the Employer on an annual basis. Bargaining unit employees hired on or after August 1, 2015 electing dependent coverage will contribute an amount equal to twenty percent (20%) of the portion of the dependent coverage premium of the Employer's designated basic health care plan and the Employer shall pay eighty percent (80%) of the portion of the premium for dependent coverage for the Employer's designated basic health care plan. Such bargaining unit members wishing to elect coverage in a health care plan provided by the Employer other than the Employer's designated basic health care plan for either single or dependent coverage may do so, but the employee shall be responsible to pay 100% of the premium in excess of the premium for the Employer's designated basic health care plan premium, in addition to the percentages set forth hereinabove.

The deductible for the indemnity/PPO plan shall remain at \$250.00 per individual/\$750.00 per family, and the maximum out-of-pocket liability for coverage under the indemnity/PPO plan will not exceed \$1,500 per person for participating providers and \$2,500.00 per person for non-participating providers, or \$3,000 per 1220880.1 20

family for participating providers and \$5,000.00 per family for non-participating providers. The Village shall only be required to provide one HMO plan. The Employer reserves the right to add a single plus spouse group health plan and/or a single plus child/children group health plan, with co-payments to be made at the same percentages as set forth above for single and dependent coverage, and with the employee having the option to select any coverage for which the employee qualifies. The Employer may change carriers/plans once annually during the term of this Agreement, or self-insure if desired, provided the coverage benefit levels are maintained at or above the levels listed on Appendix "B" attached hereto, and the deductibles and maximum out-of-pockets limits remain the same.

Effective May 1, 2012, the employee shall be responsible for 100% of the co-payment for office visits, including specialists, for employees enrolled in the HMO plan. Effective July 1, 2011, employees enrolled in the PPO plan shall be responsible for 100% of the co-payment for office visits, including specialists.

The Village will establish a Health Reimbursement Account for employees. The Village will be responsible for any administrative costs incurred in establishing such HRA, but the employees shall be responsible for all contributions to such accounts, and for any annual fees associated with maintaining such accounts.

The Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI) fees, the Transitional Reinsurance fees, and the Insurer Tax imposed by the PPACA (Affordable Care Act) shall be included in and considered a portion of the health insurance premiums charged by the health insurance carrier, and employees shall pay either 10% or 15% of such fees and taxes, depending on single or dependent coverage elected by the employee, as part of their premium co-payments described hereinabove.

Section 20.2. Life Insurance.

The Employer agrees to provide employees covered by this Agreement with Life Insurance in an amount equal to the employee's annual base salary rounded up to the nearest one thousand dollars as of May I of each year of this Agreement or the amount that the Village provides pursuant to its group plan, whichever is greater.

Section 20.3. Dental Insurance.

The Employer's present complete dental insurance program covering all employees, including police officers and their dependents, shall continue in effect with the Employer paying 90% of the premium for single coverage for the employee, and the employee paying 10% of the premium for such single coverage effective May 1, 2003. Bargaining unit employees electing dependent dental insurance will contribute an amount equal to 15% of the dependent dental insurance premiums. The Employer may change carriers once annually during the term of this Agreement or self-insure if desired, provided the coverages remain substantially the same or improve, and the deductibles remain the same.

Commencing July 1, 2024, all covered employees (regardless of their date of hire) shall pay fifteen percent (15%) of the premiums for single Dental insurance coverage, and shall pay twenty percent (20%) of the portion of the premium for the dependent coverage for the Dental insurance coverage. The Dental Insurance Plan shall have a maximum coverage of \$2,000.00 per person.

Section 20.4. Eligibility.

"Eligible employees," as that term is defined in the Family Medical Leave Act, may continue their coverage under any "group health plan," as that term is defined in the FMLA, for the duration provided in 1220880.1 21

said Act under the same conditions as if they were on duty. Thereafter, the provisions of this Section 4 shall apply. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Village of Glendale Heights Personnel Manual, including Section 8.13.3(b) thereof, or as amended hereafter, to the contrary, during the term of this Agreement, employees in the bargaining unit who are disabled or injured not as a result of an injury sustained during the course of their employment may continue their health, dental and life insurance coverage on the following terms and conditions. The Village shall pay the entire premium for such health, dental and life insurance, except for the dependent co-payment portion which is the obligation of the employee, for a maximum of sixty (60) days from the date that the employee is placed on such disability leave status after having exhausted all of his accrued time (*i.e.* sick time, vacation time, compensatory time). Thereafter, the employee shall be responsible to pay 100% of the premium for such health, dental and life insurance, until such disability leave is terminated, either by the employee's return to employment or by the Village declaring such leave is terminated. In the event the employment relationship is terminated by the Employer, the employee shall be allowed to continue such coverage at the employee's sole expense, to the extent provided by law.

Section 20.5. Extended Coverage.

Any employee who suffers a fatal injury during the course of duty shall receive all their insurance paid by the Employer extended to spouse and dependents pursuant to current law.

Section 20.6. Retirees Health Insurance Study.

The parties agree to jointly study the establishment of a VEBA plan to help fund the costs of medical insurance after retirement.

Section 20.7. Health Insurance Opt Out Provisions.

Effective July 1, 2007, any bargaining unit employee (including employees whose spouse is also a Village employee) who does not want to be covered by a Village health insurance plan may decline the coverage and will be paid a maximum annual lump sum payment of \$3,000. This payment will be made only to those employees who decline all Village health insurance (for example, no single coverage and no family coverage).

For any bargaining unit employee who declines a separate Village health insurance plan because he/she is covered under his/her spouse's Village insurance plan as a dependent, such employee shall receive a \$1,500 annual lump sum payment. However, when two spouses have no children, each spouse must take single coverage and neither will receive an opt out payment.

For the purpose of this policy the "Opt Out Year" shall be defined as July 1st through June 30th of each calendar year. Such lump sum shall be paid within thirty (30) days following the first month of approved opt out. The Opt Out option will be offered only during the open enrollment period.

Because having health insurance is vitally important, no employee will be allowed to decline the coverage unless they can show proof of coverage under another health insurance policy and sign a Waiver of Health Insurance form.

If an employee loses coverage from the other insurance plan during the year, the employee shall be permitted to re-enroll in the Village's insurance plan in accordance with the "Special Enrollment for Loss of Other Coverage" pursuant to the Village's group plan document. The employee will also be required to refund to the Village that portion of the cash incentive, pro-rated according to the length of time the employee was not insured. This refund must be paid back in a lump sum at the time of re-enrollment or through a payroll deduction over a period not to exceed six (6) months. An employee participating in the Opt Out program may also elect to re-enroll in the Village's health insurance plan during open enrollment each year.

Section 20.8. IRS Section 125 Plan.

Effective January 1, 2005, the Village will, to the extent provided by law, provide a comprehensive Section 125 program. Nothing in this section infers that the Village will contribute to an employee's Section 125 plan. The maximum an employee can elect to withhold shall be \$5,000.00, provided employees shall be required to reimburse the employer for any funds drawn that exceed the amount contributed, if the employee terminates employment during the plan year. The Village shall pay the initial fee and annual renewal fees, and the employees shall pay the monthly participation fees. The Village shall not be required to offer this Section 125 plan, or may cease offering such plan, if less than 25% of all full-time employees, Village-wide, participate in such plan.

Section 20.9. Terms of Insurance Policies to Govern.

The extent of coverage under the insurance policies referred to in this Agreement shall be governed by the terms and conditions set forth in said policies or plans. Any questions or disputes concerning said insurance policies or plans or benefits thereunder shall be resolved in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in said policies or plans and shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure set forth in this Agreement. The failure of any insurance carrier(s) or plan administrator(s) to provide any benefit for which it has contracted or is obligated shall result in no liability to the Village, nor shall such failure be considered a breach by the Village of any obligation undertaken under this or any other Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to relieve any insurance carrier(s) or plan administrator(s) from any liability it may have to the Village, employee or beneficiary of any employee, and nothing in this Section shall relieve the Village of its obligation to provide and maintain coverages as specified in this Article.

ARTICLE 21 DISCIPLINE

Section 21.1. Discipline.

Disciplinary action(s) meted out by the Chief of Police or his designee shall be timely. In the event an internal investigation is not completed within forty-five (45) days after the interrogation of the officer who is the subject of the investigation, the officer shall be provided periodic notices as to the expected completion date of such investigation. Disciplinary action(s) may be appealed through the grievance/arbitration process as laid out in Article 7, but shall be commenced at Step 2. Grievances regarding documented verbal reprimands shall not be advanced to Step 4 (arbitration) of such grievance procedure provided in Article 7 of this Agreement, but bargaining unit members shall have the option to utilize the Police Department's Discipline, and in such event, the decision of the Discipline Review Board regarding documented verbal reprimands shall be binding on the parties. The Chief or his/her designee has the authority to implement discipline up to a thirty (30) day suspension or termination, without charges being filed before the Board of Police Commissioners.

Section 21.2. Review of Recorded Media Files by Body-Worn Cameras (BWC).

The following provisions shall be included in any policies, orders, or procedures of the Police Department, with regard to officer body-worn cameras ("BWC"):

- A. For the purposes of redaction, labeling, or duplicating recordings, access to camera recordings shall be restricted to only those personnel responsible for those purposes.
- B. Officers and Supervisors may access and review recordings prior to completing incident reports or other documentation, provided that the officer or supervisor discloses the fact in the report or documentation.
- C. A law enforcement officer shall not have access to or review his/her BWC recordings or the BWC recordings of another officer prior to completing incident reports or other documentation when the officer:
 - 1. Has been involved in or is a witness to an officer-involved shooting, use of deadly force incident, or use of force incidents resulting in great bodily harm; or
 - 2. Is ordered to write a report in response to or during the investigation of a misconduct complaint against the officer.

If the officer is subject to this paragraph C and prepares a report, any report shall be prepared without viewing BWC recordings, and subject to supervisors' approval, officers may then file amendatory reports after viewing BWC recordings. Supplemental reports under this provision shall also contain documentation regarding access to video footage.

- D. Supervisors shall not review recordings for the sole purpose of searching for violations of department policy or law not related to a specific complaint or incident. If policy violations are observed by a supervisor, the primary goal of the supervisor shall be correcting the violations through employee counseling and/or additional training. Unless the violation observed is illegal or egregious, discipline shall be reserved for officers with repeat violations of the same policies.
- E. Supervisors are authorized to review relevant recordings any time they are investigating alleged misconduct or reports of meritorious conduct.
- F. Recorded files may also be reviewed under the following circumstances:
- 1. Upon approval by a supervisor, by any officer of the Department who is participating in an official investigation, such as a personnel complaint, administrative investigation or criminal investigation.
- 2. Pursuant to lawful process or by court personnel who are otherwise authorized to review evidence in a related case.
- 3. By media personnel with permission of the chief of police or the authorized designee.
- 4. In compliance with a public records request, if permitted.
- 5. Pursuant to Section 21.3 of this Agreement.
- G. All recordings should be reviewed by the custodian of records prior to public release. Recordings that unreasonably violate a person's privacy or sense of dignity should not be publicly released unless disclosure is required by law or order of court.

Section 21.3. Supervisory Body-Worn Camera Review.

The following provisions shall be included in any policies, orders, or procedures of the Police Department, with regard to officer body-worn cameras:

- A. Supervisors (Being the rank of Sergeant or above) may perform monthly random reviews of BWC recordings which shall consist of one (1) incident's footage of each officer. Supervisors shall coordinate the selection of officers with one another to ensure there are no duplicate reviews. The reviews shall be documented on the Body Worn Camera Video Review Form (Operating Procedure #1923 Appendix A) and entered into the LEA Database. The review will include the following:
 - a. Reviewing Supervisor
 - b. Date of Review
 - c. Officer being reviewed
 - d. Date/Time of occurrence
 - e. Type of Incident
 - f. Policy Compliance
 - g. Compliance with the law
 - h. Officer's safety
 - i. Any necessary action/follow-up taken
- B. The monthly random reviews of BWC recordings are intended to:
 - 1. Assess officer performance.
 - a. Minor policy infractions (not criminal in nature or use of force related) discovered during the routine review of recorded material shall be viewed as training opportunities and not as routine disciplinary actions.
 - b. If the behavior or action becomes habitual after being formally addressed, then the appropriate disciplinary, corrective, or formal actions shall be taken.
 - 2. Determine whether BWC equipment is functioning and being properly used.
 - 3. Identify material that may be appropriate for training.

Section 21.4. Viewing of Live View Function on Body-Worn Cameras

The following provisions shall be included in any policies, orders, or procedures of the Police Department, with regard to officer body-worn cameras:

- A. The live view of event mode for an officer's BWC shall only be enacted by supervisors during in progress major crimes as identified in Operating Procedure #470-Incident Notification, section .20, or any instance of an officer down and not responding to radio communications. The purpose of a supervisor utilizing the live view function is strictly for officer safety and to give direction until the supervisor arrives on scene. Live view access shall be terminated when the scene is contained or the supervisor arrives on scene.
- B. Nothing a supervisor observes while viewing live view can be used by that supervisor to initiate discipline, absent observations made of criminal conduct.

C. The Chief of Police and Deputy Chiefs of Police will maintain the ability to utilize the live view function to monitor crime scenes after the scene is secure, but only through the BWC of the Patrol Supervisor or any other officer on scene with the prior consent of the officer for the purpose of viewing the crime scene.

ARTICLE 22 TUITION REFUND PROGRAM

Section 22.1. <u>Tuition Reimbursement Program.</u>

When a full-time employee is enrolled in an accredited university, college or adult education program and the course and/or degree program being undertaken is directly related to his duties with the Village as a police officer, the employee shall be reimbursed in accordance with Section 3 below.

Section 22.2. Financial Assistance.

To encourage professional development the Village of Glendale Heights provides financial assistance to any permanent full-time employee who wishes to pursue education and/or training courses directed toward acquiring skills and knowledge of value to the Village and directly related to the employees position as a police officer.

Section 22.3. Exclusions/Limitations.

Should the Department Head determine that a particular course is not related to the employee's position as a police officer, then educational assistance shall not be provided. Educational assistance shall not be provided for a master's degree or any other advance degree. Advance approval of the Village Administrator (or designee) is required as a condition for payment of benefits under the Program. Covered employees shall be eligible for reimbursement in the order that such approval is granted.

- a) Limitations: Reimbursement is limited to the amount budgeted by the Village (a minimum of \$3,000 will be budgeted annually for the employees in the bargaining unit) and subject to the following:
 - 1) Seventy-five percent (75%) of expenses incurred in securing such education and/or training courses including tuition and related expenses;
 - 2) Two courses per academic semester;
 - 3) Successful completion of course: *i.e.* grade of "C" or better or for non-graded course work, a satisfactory completion.
- b) Reimbursement: Copies of the grade report or certificate of completion, textbook receipts, and all other supporting documentation must be submitted to the Personnel Director before reimbursement can be made. Any person receiving funds from the Village for tuition assistance for courses in a degree program must remain in the employ of the Village for two (2) full years after the date of payment or reimburse the Village for the full amount of the tuition reimbursement. Any person receiving funds from the Village for tuition assistance for courses other than courses in a degree program must remain in the employ of the Village for one (1) full year after the date of payment or reimburse the Village for the full amount of the tuition reimbursement.

Educational assistance shall not be provided to an employee whose employment with the Village terminates prior to his completion of the course except where such termination occurs as a result of reduction in the work force.

ARTICLE 23 UNIFORM AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE

Section 23.1. Quarter Master System.

The Village agrees that the current Quarter Master system shall stay in effect for the duration of this Agreement. Bargaining unit members who are assigned to the Patrol Division shall be required to wear black shoes or boots, as specified in the General Order regarding same, and the Employer shall reimburse such members of the bargaining unit for the cost of such shoes or boots which are required to be worn under the terms of this Section, up to \$175 per year, commencing May 1, 2024. Employees shall purchase the shoes or boots and shall be required to present a receipt to the Employer for reimbursement.

For bargaining unit members who are assigned to the Patrol Division and who choose to wear an outer vest carrier, the Village shall furnish the outer vest carrier at the time that such employee is provided a ballistic vest, and the Village shall provide one replacement outer vest carrier during the life of the ballistic vest, if needed.

Section 23.2. Detective Clothing Allowance.

Effective May 1, 2024, each officer assigned to conduct criminal investigations shall be paid a clothing allowance of eight hundred fifty (\$850.00) dollars per year (pro rata if assigned for less than a full year), except that those officers who are assigned to criminal investigations that serve on a tactical unit (Special Operations) shall not receive a clothing allowance. The High School Liaison Officer shall receive the detective clothing allowance, for so long as such officer is required to wear plain clothes. Any other employee who is required to wear any clothing, other than the specified uniform, as the result of an assignment for at least three (3) months duration, shall receive one hundred fifty dollars (\$150.00) per year. Clothing allowance for the fiscal year. If any employee requests and is reassigned from the Investigations Division during that fiscal year, the employee shall be required to reimburse the Village on a pro rata basis, and the Village is authorized to withhold the amount of such reimbursement from that officer's pay.

The Village shall make available and shall supply practice ammunition at the range, for the use of bargaining unit members exclusively at the range.

ARTICLE 24 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

Section 24.1. Application of Article.

This Article is intended only as a basis for calculating overtime payments, and nothing in this Article or Agreement shall be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day, per week, or per work cycle.

Normal Workday and Work Week. Section 24.2.

The normal workday for the Patrol Division shall consist of either ten (10) hour shifts (including $\frac{1}{2}$ hour paid lunch period) or twelve (12) hour shifts (including a ³/₄ hour paid lunch period). (For Patrol Division officers who work a twelve (12) hour shift or a ten (10) hour shift, an officer will be granted an additional ¼ hour paid lunch period, on any duty day on which such officer uses the Police Department's exercise facility, while on duty, for $\frac{1}{2}$ hour.) The normal work day for employees assigned to the Investigations Division shall consist of ten (10) hours (including a one-half (1/2) hour paid lunch period). The normal work week shall consist of forty (40) hours over seven (7) consecutive days commencing on Sunday for those officers working a ten (10) hour patrol schedule. The normal work week shall consist of either thirty-two (32) hours, thirty-six (36) hours, forty-four (44) hours or forty-eight (48) hours over seven (7) consecutive days commencing on Sunday, for those officers working a twelve (12) hour patrol schedule; and such officers shall be assigned to six 12 hour shifts and one 8 hour shift during a normal work period of fourteen (14) days, as defined in Section 24.4 hereinafter. The normal work week for employees assigned to the Investigations Division shall consist of forty (40) hours over seven (7) consecutive days commencing on Sunday. The Village will first staff the number of twelve (12) hour shifts as determined by the Village, and then will staff ten (10) hour shifts from the remaining available manpower, with a minimum of 8 shifts of tenhours length.

Effective December 29, 2024, the normal workday for the Patrol Division shall consist of twelve (12) hour shifts (including a ³/₄ hour paid lunch period). For Patrol Division officers who work a twelve (12) hour shift, an officer will be granted an additional ¼ hour paid lunch period, on any duty day on which such officer uses the Police Department's exercise facility, while on duty, for 1/2 hour. The normal work day for employees assigned to the Investigations Division shall consist of ten (10) hours (including a one-half (1/2) hour paid lunch period). The normal work week shall consist of either thirty-two (32) hours, thirty-six (36) hours, forty-four (44) hours or forty-eight (48) hours over seven (7) consecutive days commencing on Sunday, for those officers working a twelve (12) hour patrol schedule; and such officers shall be assigned to six 12 hour shifts and one 8 hour shift during a normal work period of fourteen (14) days, as defined in Section 24.4 hereinafter. The normal work week for employees assigned to the Investigations Division shall consist of forty (40) hours over seven (7) consecutive days commencing on Sunday. The Village will first staff the number of day and night twelve (12) hour shifts as determined by the Village, and then will staff the afternoon power shift with a minimum of three (3) officers per team, when there is adequate manpower.

No adjustments to the scheduling of any eight (8) hour "short day" for those officers working twelve (12) hour shifts will be made if the eight (8) hour "short day" is attached to a vacation or to a personal day which is attached to a vacation.

Section 24.3. Normal Work Schedules.

For employees in the Patrol Division who work a ten (10) hour shift, a normal work schedule shall have an employee on-duty for sixteen (16) days and off-duty for twelve (12) days within a twenty-eight (28) day shift cycle. For employees in the Patrol Division who work a twelve (12) hour shift, a normal work schedule shall have an employee on-duty for fourteen (14) days and off-duty for fourteen (14) days in a twenty-eight (28) day shift cycle. Days off shall be consecutive and shall not be canceled, except by mutual agreement. This shall not apply to employees who work special assignments or who are assigned to specialty units.

Section 24.4. Normal Work Cycle.

For FLSA purposes, the normal work period shall be fourteen (14) days, which shall encompass two (2) normal work weeks and constitute a two (2) week pay cycle. 1220880.1 28

Section 24.5. Changes in the Normal Workday or Normal Work Cycle.

- (1) The schedule for each twenty-eight (28) day cycle shall be posted in writing not less than twenty-eight (28) days in advance, with a copy delivered simultaneously to the employees (*i.e.* the schedule for the third twenty-eight (28) day period of the year shall be posted and delivered prior to the end of the first twenty-eight (28) day period of that year; the schedule for the fourth prior to the end of the second, the fifth prior to the end of the third, and so forth).
- (2) Except as provided in paragraph (3) below, if an employee's shift schedule is changed after it has been posted and delivered to the bargaining unit employees, the Employer shall pay the employee at the overtime rate (one and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular rate of pay) for all hours of work that were changed from the originally posted and delivered schedule.
- (3) The Employer shall not be required to pay overtime solely as a result of changing an employee's posted and delivered work schedule where the change is the direct result of:
 - (a) an injury to another officer which the Employer reasonably anticipates will cause absences in excess of one (1) week (seven (7) calendar days); or
 - (b) another officer's pregnancy leave, resignation, retirement and/or discharge where the Employer had less than twenty-eight (28) days advance notice that the same would occur.

Upon the occurrence of an event described in subparagraphs 3(a) or 3(b) above, the Employer may change the posted work schedule of only one other employee per event pursuant to subparagraph 3(a) or 3(b) above for up to the remaining duration of the schedules that have been previously posted (no more than two (2) twenty-eight (28) day cycles) without having to pay overtime to the employee whose posted work schedule was changed. Upon an employee's return to duty, all affected employees shall revert to the schedules that were posted.

- (4) Employees may trade work days and/or days off, but an employee's work schedule shall not be involuntarily changed to accommodate other employees' trade or day off requests. Employees who are trading work days and/or days off shall present to their supervisor twenty-four (24) hours advance written notice of the days to be traded signed by each of the employees involved in the trade.
- (5) The Police Department shall, in November, post a preliminary schedule for the Patrol Division for the upcoming calendar year. The Department shall have the right, in creating this preliminary schedule, to utilize manpower staffing levels in a manner that reflects call activity based on the following shifts:
 - Day Shift (0700-1900)
 - Day Power Shift (1100-2100)
 - Afternoon Power Shift (1600-0200)
 - Night Shift (1900-0700)

Effective for the work schedule beginning on December 29, 2024, the Police Department shall, in November, post a preliminary schedule for the Patrol Division for the upcoming calendar year. The Department shall have the right, in creating this preliminary schedule, to utilize manpower staffing levels in a manner that reflects call activity based on the following shifts:

- Day Shift (0700-1900)
- Afternoon Power Shift (1400-0200)
- Night Shift (1900-0700)
- (a) The Department maintains the right to alter shift hours by one hour (either earlier or later) to create early or late car assignments or to permit later weekend hours for power shift assignments.
- (b) This annual preliminary schedule shall be forwarded to the bargaining unit on or before November 15th. The bargaining unit shall poll its members to staff all positions identified on the preliminary schedule. The bargaining unit shall utilize the following criteria in the shift selection process.
 - A bidding system (seniority based) by its members, and
 - Special medical accommodations required by either the Department's or the member's physician.
- (c) The bargaining unit shall provide a completed staffing selection preliminary schedule to the Department on or before December 15th. Should the bargaining unit fail to complete a staffing schedule on or before this date, the Department will then complete an annual preliminary schedule for the upcoming year utilizing the standard twenty-eight (28) day rotation schedule.
- (d) The employer will complete all probationary officers' schedules during the time period that they are assigned to a Field Training Officer.
- (6) The bargaining unit shall identify one (1) member from each team working the twelve (12) hour day and night shifts and one (1) member from each team working the ten (10) hour afternoon power shift (six (6) officers total) whose shifts may be altered from the preliminary annual schedule to address changing manpower needs for the final twenty-eight (28) day schedule, as required by Section 24.5(1). (Officers outside these identified six (6) employees may volunteer to alter their annual schedule.)

Effective December 29, 2024, the bargaining unit shall identify one (1) member from each team working the twelve (12) hour day, power and night shifts, whose shifts may be altered from the preliminary annual schedule to address changing manpower needs for the final twenty-eight (28) day schedule, as required by Section 24.5(1). (Officers outside these identified six (6) employees may volunteer to alter their annual schedule.)

To maintain staffing needs, these six (6) identified officers may be moved from their regularly assigned shifts in order to fill manpower shortages. The most junior identified officer on each of the three (3) shifts will be utilized as the officer to be moved to another shift. When the most junior officer is unavailable, the next junior identified officer will be utilized. An officer will not be moved off of his/her regularly assigned shift if the other shifts meet minimum manpower requirements.

- (7) Any shortages caused by the following, if staffed by the Employer, shall be filled by hiring back officers:
 - (a) Vacations which occur between May 16 and October 14, which allow for a 2-day overlap, except that once the annual vacation picks are completed, the provisions of paragraph (6)

above may be used to fill such vacancies, but only for a shift shortage of eight (8) hours, and a final annual schedule will then be issued.

(b) Training, specialized assignments, or any other manpower shortage caused by the Employer.

Notwithstanding the above, officers may volunteer to alter their preliminary annual schedule to accommodate any of the above items.

- (8) Officers reassigned to the Patrol Division from a specialty assignment.
 - (a) Any officer assigned to a specialty assignment who voluntarily returns to the Patrol Division after the yearly patrol schedule is posted shall be placed into the patrol schedule into an available spot at the Employer's discretion.
 - (b) Any officer assigned to a specialty assignment who is reassigned to the Patrol Division by the employer, after the yearly patrol schedule is posted, shall be allowed to bid on his/her shift based upon seniority.
 - The most junior officer on the shift selected by the reassignment member shall be allowed to re-bid for another shift based on seniority.
- (9) In no event shall an employee's schedule be altered or changed arbitrarily or capriciously and any change shall be in compliance with section 24.3, if applicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is recognized that the normal workday of an employee assigned to the investigations division necessarily varies depending on the needs of the Department and that from time to time it will be necessary to make changes in the employee's normal workday with very little advance notice.

Section 24.6. Overtime Pay.

- (a) For FLSA purposes, overtime shall be paid for all hours worked in excess of eighty-four (84) hours in a fourteen (14) day work period. In addition, for any employee who is scheduled to work eighty (80) hours in a fourteen (14) day work period, such employee shall receive overtime compensation for any hours worked in excess of eighty (80) hours in a fourteen (14) day work period.
- (b) Employees shall be paid one and one-half (1-1/2) times their regular hourly rate of pay as overtime pay, provided that all compensated hours that are taken during the normal work week shall be counted as hours worked for the purpose of determining eligibility for overtime pay. Except in cases of suspensions, an employee's hours of work, as previously scheduled, shall not be reduced to avoid paying overtime. Overtime shall be calculated to the nearest fifteen (15) minute increment.

Section 24.7. Court Time.

For any day employees are required to make a court appearance(s) or be assigned "stand-by" duty outside their normal hours of work (*i.e.*, hours not contiguous to their normal shift or on a day not regularly scheduled), such employees shall be compensated for all hours they are required to be in court or available on "stand-by" duty outside their normal shift:

(a) a minimum of two (2) hours compensation at the applicable rate of pay for "stand by";

(b) a minimum of three (3) hours compensation at the applicable rate of pay for any felony or non-traffic misdemeanor or for any summary suspension court appearances;

or

a minimum of three (3) hours compensation at the applicable rate of pay for traffic court, grand jury or coroner's inquest appearances which fall on the officer's regular day off (RDO);

or

(d) a minimum of two (2) hours compensation at the applicable rate of pay for traffic court, grand jury or coroner's inquest appearances which fall on the officer's duty day; except that if such minimum time overlaps the officer's regular duty hours, then in such case there shall be no pyramiding of compensation for such overlapped hours of work. For an officer who is assigned to ten (10) or twelve (12) hour shifts, the two (2) hour minimum applies to traffic court, grand jury or coroner's inquest appearances which fall on the officer's duty day or within four (4) hours of the start or end of a shift.

Each of the above include preparation time and conferences with the Assistant State's Attorney (provided, if the officer's "stand by" becomes an in-court appearance, then the officer will receive four (4) hours minimum).

The following procedures shall apply for misdemeanor and felony court assignments or stand-by: Any employee who is required to contact misdemeanor and felony court, and upon doing so, who are advised:

- (a) not to appear for the day shall receive one (1) hour overtime pay only.
- (b) to standby shall receive overtime pay for all hours while on standby subject to the Employer's assignment, if required. Employees who are advised to stand-by for felony court and not misdemeanor court duty must notify the on-duty supervisor in order to determine if the Employer elects to assign the officer to other duties.

Section 24.8. Call-in Pay.

Employees who are called back to work outside their normal hours of work (*i.e.*, hours not contiguous to their normal shift or on a day not regularly scheduled) shall be compensated for all such hours worked outside the normal shift, with a minimum of two (2) hours compensation for each instance.

Section 24.9. Travel to Training.

Employees will be compensated for travel to training as follows:

- (a) Officers who travel from the Village Hall will receive a car or mileage in lieu of compensation for travel to training;
- (b) Officers may refuse to attend training which is outside the twenty-five-mile radius;
- (c) Travel to training in downstate Illinois or outside the State will be scheduled as part of the officer's normal work day.

(d) For an officer assigned to participate in a training class that is scheduled at least eight (8) hours in length in a day, the work day regardless of their regularly assigned shift hours (*i.e.*, 10, 12 hour shifts) shall begin at the training class start time and shall continue for a period of time commensurate with the scheduled end of the training class. Officers shall not be required to return to work, use other compensatory time, or any other benefit time for scheduled eight (8) hour training classes that end short of their regularly assigned shift hours (*i.e.*, 10, 12 hour shifts).

For an officer assigned to attend a training class that is less than eight (8) hours in length in a day, officers may return to work, use Other Compensatory Time or any other benefit time for training classes that end short of their regularly assigned shift hours (*i.e.*, 10, 12 hour shifts). 40 hour classes will result in a five day week being worked with no other adjustments required (*i.e.*, employees assigned to 10 or 12 hour shifts will attend classes for 40 hours and no additional work or any benefit time will be required).

Section 24.10. Compensatory Time.

The Employer agrees to grant compensatory time off in lieu of overtime payment at the employee's discretion and at the same overtime rate. Compensatory time off may be accumulated to a maximum of two hundred (200) hours. Employees who have accumulated more than two hundred (200) hours may not accumulate additional compensatory time until they fall below two hundred (200) hours but may keep what they currently have accumulated on the record books. Effective April 30, 2022, on or before April 30th of each year, any employee who has accumulated more than one hundred twenty (120) hours of compensatory time shall receive payment for any accrued compensatory time that was earned but unused in that given contract year (May 1 - April 30) in excess of one hundred twenty (120) hours, at the employee's rate of pay in effect on April 30th, and such payment shall be deposited into the employee's RHS account. Compensatory time off shall be granted at the employee's request at such time and in such blocks as are mutually agreed between the employee and his immediate supervisor and/or division commander. Permission to use compensatory time shall not be unreasonably denied if operational needs will not be adversely affected. When any compensatory time off is granted, the employee shall not be required to remain on "stand-by" status. When a request to use any compensatory time is denied, the sergeant must articulate the reasons for the denial, and the officer shall have the right to an immediate review by the Deputy Chief of Patrol Operations (in addition to filing a grievance).

Section 24.11. Field Training Officers (FTO).

- (a) Field Training Officers working a twelve (12) hour shift shall receive one and three-quarter (1-3/4) hours pay at the regular rate or one and three-quarter (1-3/4) hours of compensatory time for each day they are assigned a trainee, as compensation for the time required to complete paperwork while off-duty.
- (b) Field Training Officers working a ten (10) hour shift shall receive one and one-half (1-1/2) hours pay at the regular rate or one and one-half (1-1/2) hours of compensatory time for each day they are assigned a trainee, as compensation for the time required to complete paperwork while off-duty.
- (c) Field Training Officers working an eight (8) hour shift shall receive one and one-quarter (1¹/₄) hours pay at the regular rate or one and one-quarter (1-1/4) hours of compensatory time for each day they are assigned a trainee, as compensation for the time required to complete paperwork while off-duty.

Section 24.12. Required Overtime.

The Chief of Police or his/her designee has the right to determine and require overtime and officers may not refuse overtime assignments. Overtime shifts may be split between two (2) officers, but full shifts take precedence over split shifts. Officers shall not volunteer nor be ordered to work more than sixteen (16) consecutive hours in one day, unless exigent circumstances exist. Should sixteen (16) consecutive hours be worked, officers are required to have eight (8) consecutive hours off, unless exigent circumstances exist. Overtime shall be offered by seniority within a division prior to offering the overtime to employees outside of the division by seniority, in accordance with the below procedures:

- 1. In the event it is necessary to hold an officer(s) over from a prior shift, or to call an officer(s) in early from the next shift, for overtime of four (4) hours or less, selection will be requested by seniority from the officers on-duty on the off going shift (in the case of a hold over), or by seniority from the officers on the on-coming shift (in the case of an early call-in). If no officer(s) volunteers, and it should be necessary to order an officer(s) to stay or report early, a reverse seniority basis will be followed among available officers on the appropriate shift.
- 2. In the event that it is necessary to call in an officer(s) to work a shift regarding an overtime event with two (2) to twenty-four (24) hours notice, overtime will be offered by seniority to all officers within the patrol unit. Notification will be made via the Code Red system, unless any other method is mutually agreed upon. Any message left on the officers' voicemail or answering machine shall include the time of the available overtime shift and a time frame in which to respond to the request. The overtime slots will be assigned based upon seniority of the officers who have responded within the stated time limit. If no officer volunteers or if less officers volunteer than are needed, and it should be necessary to order an officer to work the overtime shift, selection shall be made on a reverse seniority basis from all available patrol division officers.
- 3. All other patrol unit shift overtime will be offered as far in advance as practical by posting sign-up sheets in roll call, and the selection of officer(s) will be based on seniority. If no officer(s) volunteer, and it should be necessary to order an officer(s) to report for duty, a reverse seniority basis will be followed among available officers from the Patrol Division on the affected shift, provided no officer shall be required to work more than one of his regular days off (RDO's) within their normal work week. Selection will be made and assigned a minimum of three (3) days prior to the date of the shift overtime when practical.
 - a. For shift shortages of eight (8) hours or more, if no officer(s) volunteer, and it should be necessary to order an officer(s) to report for duty, a reverse seniority basis will be followed among available officers from the Patrol Division on the affected shift type, provided no officer shall be required to work more than one of his regular days off (RDO's) within their normal work week.
 - b. For shift shortages less than eight (8) hours, if no officers volunteer, and it should be necessary to order an officer(s) to report for duty, a reverse seniority basis will be followed among officers on the off-going shift (hold over) and offices on the on-coming shift (call-in).
 - c. In the event an officer signs up for partial coverage of an overtime, the remaining needed overtime will be filled using sections (a) and (b).

4. When overtime is to be offered for special details (DUI Enforcement, Burglary Patrols, etc.) the offering will be posted in the Roll Call room for a period of five (5) days (when practical), and the selection of officers to work will be based on the seniority of all officers who requested to work same, provided that no officer may sign up for more than twenty (20) hours of such special detail overtime in any work week, except for the Glendale Heights Fest, and unless otherwise mutually agreed. If no officer volunteers, reverse seniority of off-duty officers shall be used. On-call detectives are prohibited from working details other than Glendale Heights Fest. Selection and assignments will be made a minimum of three (3) days prior to the overtime detail (when practical).

No officer shall be required to work more than one of his regular days off (RDO's) within their normal work week, except that during Glendale Heights Fest, officers may be required to work two RDO's within their normal work week. If no officer volunteers, the next least senior officer would be required to work.

- 5. The Department reserves the right to offer overtime on a quickest response basis when necessary due to immediate necessity of additional manpower, due to weather or other immediate needs.
- 6. This article shall not apply to the call in of members who are needed to perform specialized activities (canine officers, evidence technicians, detectives, etc.).

Section 24.13. Independent Off-Duty Detail.

Independent off-duty details shall not be included in hours worked for the purposes of calculating overtime, provided that such work is performed solely at the employee's option. It is understood and agreed that independent off-duty detail work, though facilitated by the Village, is performed for a separate and independent employer. Such independent off-duty detail work shall be performed so as not to interfere with the duties performed by the employee on their normal work shift or as otherwise scheduled by the Village.

Such independent off-duty detail work shall be excluded by the Village in the calculation of the hours for which the employee is entitled to overtime compensation by the Village pursuant to Section 6 of Article 24 of this Agreement, provided that such work is performed solely at such employee's option, it is further understood that the parties intend that this independent off-duty detail work be performed pursuant to the terms of the exemption provided by Section 7(p)(1) of the Fair Labor Standards Act (29 USC 201 *et seq.*) and 29 CFR, Part 553.227.

The maximum amount charged by the Village to the independent employer shall be the top level 8 pay per hour, according to the Section 26.3 Pay Scale, at the time of the independent detail, plus \$5.00 per hour (or plus \$10.00 per hour if a squad car is assigned), of which the top level 8 pay per hour shall be paid to the employee working such detail. The Village shall retain the differential in fees charged to the independent employer and the rate of compensation paid to the employee as an administrative fee, as authorized by 29 CFR 553.227(d).

The Village shall issue further regulations regarding the procedures to be followed for volunteering for such special detail work, selecting which employee is assigned to such special detail work, establishing procedures for collection of fees from the outside employer and further regulating such special detail work.

ARTICLE 25 EMPLOYEE TESTING

Section 25.1. Statement of Policy.

It is the policy of the Village that the public has the reasonable right to expect persons employed by the Village to be free from the effects of drugs and alcohol. The Village, as the Employer, has the right to expect its employees to report for work fit and able for duty. The purposes of this policy shall be achieved in such manner as not to violate any established rights of the employees.

Section 25.2. Prohibitions.

Employees shall be prohibited from:

- (a) consuming or possessing alcohol or illegal drugs (unless in accordance with duty requirements) at any time during the workday or anywhere on any Village premises or job sites, including all Village buildings, properties, vehicles and the officer's personal vehicle while engaged in Village business;
- (b) illegally selling, purchasing or delivering any illegal drug (unless in accordance with duty requirements) during the workday or on the Employer's premises;
- (c) being under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs during the course of the workday;
- (d) failing to report to their supervisor any known adverse side effects of medication or prescription drugs which they are taking;
- (e) Marijuana remains an illegal, Schedule I dangerous drug under the Federal Controlled Substances Act; therefore, employees are prohibited from using, possessing or selling marijuana (except when acting as a law enforcement officer) or engaging in any other conduct that would violate the Federal Controlled Substances Act, including the use or possession of marijuana for medical purposes.

Section 25.3. Drug and Alcohol Testing Permitted.

A. Where the Village has reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee is then under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs during the course of the workday, the Village shall have the right to require the employee to submit to alcohol or drug testing as set forth in this Agreement. At least two (2) (non-bargaining unit) supervisory personnel, who are not members of the bargaining unit represented by the Local must articulate their reasonable suspicions concerning the affected employee prior to any order to submit to the testing authorized herein. The foregoing shall not limit the right of the Village to conduct tests as it may deem appropriate for persons seeking employment as employees prior to their date of hire or for promotion.

B. Any officer who is involved in an officer-involved shooting must submit to drug and alcohol testing, which testing must be completed no later than the end of the involved officer's shift or tour of duty. For purposes of this paragraph, an officer-involved shooting means any instance in which an officer discharges his/her firearm, causing injury or death to a person or persons, during the performance of his/her official duties or in the line of duty. The results of such tests required by this Paragraph B shall not be disclosed to any outside agency, unless pursuant to a subpoena or in response to a FOIA request. No discipline of a member who discharged their weapon off-duty will occur, based solely on the

results of an alcohol test, when the member's actions are consistent with the Department's use of force policy.

C. Additionally, the Village may conduct random testing, but no more than twice annually. If such random drug testing is performed at a time when a tested employee is not on duty, such employee shall be compensated at the employee's overtime rate, pursuant to the minimum provided for call-back, as provided in Section 24.8.

D. The terms of the Side Letter Agreement dated December 12, 2012 are hereby incorporated into this Agreement, as set forth as Appendix E of this Agreement.

Section 25.4. Order to Submit to Testing.

At the time an employee is ordered to submit to testing authorized by this Agreement, the Village shall provide the employee with a written notice of the order, setting forth all of the objective facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts which have formed the basis of the order to test. Prior to taking the test, the employee shall be permitted to consult with a representative of the Labor Council and/or Local at the time the order is given, provided that the test shall not be delayed in excess of thirty (30) minutes after receipt of the order in order to provide complete consultation. No questioning of the officer shall be conducted with regard to any order to submit to a test without first affording the officer the right to Local and/or Labor Council representation and/or legal counsel. Refusal to submit to such testing may subject the employee to discipline, but the officer's taking of the test shall not be construed as a waiver of any objection of rights that he may have.

Section 25.5. Tests to be Conducted.

In conducting the testing authorized by this Agreement, the Village shall:

- (a) use only a clinical laboratory or hospital facility that is licensed pursuant to the Illinois Clinical Laboratory Act that has or is capable of being accredited by the National Institute of Drug Abuse (NIDA);
- (b) insure that the laboratory or facility selected conforms to all NIDA standards;
- (c) establish a chain of custody procedure for both the sample collection and testing that will insure the integrity of the identity of each sample and test result. No employee covered by this Agreement shall be permitted at any time to become a part of such chain of custody;
- (d) collect a sufficient sample of the same bodily fluid or material from an employee to allow for initial screening, a confirmatory test and a sufficient amount to be set aside reserved to do later testing if requested by the employee;
- (e) collect samples in such a manner as to preserve the individual employee's right to privacy, insure a high degree of security for the sample and its freedom from adulteration. Employees shall not be witnessed by anyone while submitting a sample, except in circumstances where the laboratory or facility does not have a "clean room" for submitting samples or where there is reasonable belief that the employee has attempted or may attempt to compromise the accuracy of the testing procedure;
- (f) confirm any sample that tests positive in the initial screening for drugs by testing the second portion of the same sample by gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GCMS) or

an equivalent or better scientifically accurate and accepted method that provides quantitative data about the detected drug or drug metabolites;

- (g) provide the employee tested with an opportunity to have the additional sample tested by a clinical laboratory or hospital facility of the employee's own choosing, at the employee's own expense; provided the employee notifies the Village within seventy-two (72) hours of receiving the results of the test;
- (h) require that the laboratory or hospital facility report to the Village that a blood or urine sample is positive only if both the initial screening and confirmation test are positive for a particular drug. The parties agree that should any information concerning such testing or the results thereof be obtained by the Village inconsistent with the understandings expressed herein (*e.g.* billings for testing that reveal the nature or number of tests administered), the Village will not use such information in any manner or forum adverse to the employee's interests;
- (i) require that with regard to alcohol testing, for the purpose of determining whether the employee is under the influence of alcohol, test results showing an alcohol concentration of .021 or more based upon the grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood be considered positive. The foregoing standard shall preclude the Village from attempting to show that test results below .021 demonstrate that the employee was under the influence;
- (j) provide each employee tested with a copy of all information and reports received by the Village in connection with the testing and the results;
- (k) insure that no employee is the subject of any adverse employment action except emergency temporary reassignment or relief from duty with pay during the pendency of any testing procedure. Any such emergency reassignment or relief from duty shall be immediately discontinued in the event of a negative test result.

Section 25.6. Right to Contest.

The Local and/or the employee, with or without the Local, shall have the right to file a grievance concerning any testing permitted by this Agreement, contesting the basis for the order to submit to the tests, the right to test, the administration of the tests, the significance and accuracy of the tests, the consequences of the testing or results or any other alleged violation of this Agreement. Such grievances shall be commenced at Step 2 of the Grievance Procedure. It is agreed that the parties in no way intend or have in any manner restricted, diminished or otherwise impaired any legal rights that employees may have with regard to such testing. Employees retain any such rights as may exist and may pursue the same in their own discretion, with or without the assistance of the Local.

Section 25.7. Voluntary Requests for Assistance.

The Village shall take no adverse employment action against an employee who voluntarily seeks treatment, counseling or other support for an alcohol or drug related problem, other than the Village may require reassignment of the employee with pay. The Village shall make available through an Employee Assistance Program a means by which the employee may obtain referrals and treatment. All such requests shall be confidential and any information received by the Village, through whatever means, shall not be used in any manner adverse to the employee's interests, except reassignment as described above.

Section 25.8. Discipline.

In the first instance that an employee tests positive on both the initial and confirmatory test for drugs or is found to be under the influence of alcohol (with the exception of any employee who voluntarily seeks assistance with drug and/or alcohol related problems), such officer shall be subject to disciplinary action by the Village, but limited up to a thirty (30) day suspension. In addition, the employee shall be required to:

- (a) agree to appropriate treatment as determined by the physician(s) involved;
- (b) discontinue his use of illegal drugs or abuse of alcohol;
- (c) complete the course of treatment prescribed, including an "after-care" group for a period of up to twelve (12) months;
- (d) agree to submit to random testing during hours of work during the period of "after-care."

Employees who do not agree to or who do not act in accordance with the foregoing, or test positive a second or subsequent time for the presence of illegal drugs or alcohol during the hours of work shall be subject to discipline, up to and including discharge.

The foregoing shall not be construed as an obligation on the part of the Village to retain an employee on active status throughout the period of rehabilitation if it is appropriately determined that the employee's current use of alcohol or drugs prevents such individual from performing the duties of a police officer or whose continuance on active status would constitute a direct threat to the property or safety of others. Such employees shall be afforded the opportunity to use accumulated paid leave or take an unpaid leave of absence, at the employee's option, pending treatment. The foregoing shall not limit the Village's right to discipline officers for any other type of misconduct provided such discipline shall not be increased or imposed due to alcohol or drug abuse.

ARTICLE 26 WAGES AND COMPENSATION

Section 26.1. Wages.

Effective May 1, 2021, May 1, 2022, and May 1, 2023, employees shall be paid in accordance with the pay scale listed in Section 3 below.

Section 26.2. Pay Progression.

Employees hired before January 1, 1998 shall move to the next higher level on the pay scale each May 1st, up until the highest level is reached, provided the employee has been at his current level for at least three (3) months (four (4) months for employees hired after May 1, 1992). Exception: employees during the first (1st) year of their probationary status shall not move to the next level until their anniversary date. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2000, shall move to the next higher level on the pay scale on each anniversary of their date of hire in addition to increases on May 1st as reflected in Section 26.3. Employees who are "lateral hires" shall move to the next higher level on the pay scale of hire, in addition to increases on May 1st, as reflected in Section 26.3, beginning with the next higher level above the level at which they were hired. ("Lateral hires" may be hired beginning at either L-1, L-2, or L-3.) Employees who are on disability leave of absence shall not move to the next higher level on the pay schedule while on such disability leave, except that employees who are receiving compensation pursuant to the Public

Employee Disability Act (5 ILCS 345/1).

Section 26.3. Pay Scale.

			F	OP – PA	TROL	CONT	RACT H	EFFECT	FIVE M	AY 1, 2	024				
Positions		05/01/	2023 Co	ontract	05/01/	2024 Co	ontract	L-I	L-2	L-3	L-4	L-5	L-6	L-7	L-8
FOP-	Increase	Min	Mid	Max	Min	Mid	Max	Entry	l st Yr	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	5 th	6 th	7 th
Patrol								-		Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
N-Police	3.5% +	35.48	44.39	53.29	37.25	46.61	55.95	37.25	40.34	43.43	46.61	48.95	51.28	53.62	55.95
Officer	equity														
	adj														

			F	OP – PA	TROL	CONT	RACT I	EFFEC 1	ΓΙVΕ Μ	AY 1, 2	025				
Positions		05/01/	2024 Co	ontract	05/01/	2025 Co	ontract	L-1	L-2	L-3	L-4	L-5	L-6	L-7	L-8
FOP-	Increase	Min	Mid	Max	Min	Mid	Max	Entry	1 st Yr	2 nd	3 rd	4 ^{ւհ}	5 th	6 th	7 ^{ւհ}
Patrol										Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
N-Police	3.5% +	37.25	46.61	55.95	38.74	48.47	58.19	38.74	41.95	45.17	48.47	50.91	53.33	55.77	58.19
Officer	equity														
	adj						1								

			F	OP – PA	TROL	CONTI	RACT I	EFFECT	TIVE M	AY 1, 2	026				
Positions		05/01/	2025 Co	ontract	05/01/	2026 Co	ontract	L-1	L-2	L-3	L-4	L-5	L-6	L-7	L-8
FOP-	Increase	Min	Mid	Max	Min	Mid	Max	Entry	l st Yr	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	5 th	6 th	7 th
Patrol								-		Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
N-Police Officer	3.0%	38.74	48.47	58.19	39.90	49.92	59.94	39.90	43.21	46.53	49.92	52.44	54.93	57.44	59.94

If at any time, the Village's state-shared revenue from the Local Government Distributive Fund ("LGDF") (which is the Village's share of the State income tax) is reduced by the General Assembly by 10% or more from the formula that was in place prior to July 1, 2017, or if real estate taxes are frozen by the General Assembly, then, upon ten (10) days written notification by the Village to the Union, the parties shall meet and confer, but not be required to begin to impasse or to proceed to interest arbitration regarding a reduction of the wage increases scheduled for May 1 of the relevant year.

Section 26.4. Detective Compensation.

Detectives who are required periodically to remain available for duty nine (9) hours per day throughout the year shall be compensated one (1) hour pay at the regular rate for each day this requirement is enforced, for that individual, as compensation in lieu of lost overtime opportunities. If any other employee is similarly required to remain available for duty, the Employer and the Labor Council shall meet and negotiate the terms and/or compensation for such additional duty. This requirement shall not apply to officers assigned to DUMEG who shall continue to receive forty (40) hours compensation at the regular rate of pay per year, except for officers who are designated as a DUMEG supervisor. It is understood that merely being assigned a pager does not require additional compensation even though such employee is required to respond to being paged.

Section 26.5. Canine Officer (K-9).

Canine officers shall receive a minimum of one (1) hour compensation at the regular rate of pay, each day, whether on or off duty, even if the officer spends less than one-hour, for care and maintenance of the work dog, to include but not limited to: feeding, cleaning of kennel and dog, exercising, veterinarian care and grooming. The Employer shall reimburse for the cost of supplies, veterinarian care feeding, furnishing of kennel, etc. In the event a canine officer spends more than one (1) hour on any day for the care and maintenance of the work dog, said officer shall be responsible for notifying the Employer, not later than the next work day, in order to make a claim for additional compensation.

The duty shift of the canine officer may be adjusted to accommodate the one (1) hour of compensation (*i.e.* work a 7 hour day which counts as an eight (8) hour day) with the balance paid to the employee.

During the period of assignment the canine work dog shall remain the property of the Employer, however, when such time arrives when the canine work dog is no longer able to perform its duties, and subsequently retires, the canine officer shall have the option of purchasing said dog for the sum of one (\$1.00) dollar.

Section 26.6. Longevity.

Effective May 1, 2024, employees shall annually receive the following longevity payment, as applicable:

After completing ten (10) years of service: After completing fifteen (15) years of service: After completing twenty (20) years of service: 0.75% of base pay 1.0% of base pay 1.25% of base pay

ARTICLE 27 DURATION

Section 27.1. Term of Agreement.

This Agreement shall be effective from May 1, 2024 and shall remain in full force and effect until April 30, 2027. It shall continue in effect from year to year thereafter unless notice of termination is given in writing by certified mail by either party no earlier than one hundred twenty (120) days preceding expiration. The notices referred to shall be considered to have been given as of the date shown on the postmark. Written notice may be tendered in person, in which case the date of notice shall be the written date of receipt.

Section 27.2. Reopener.

The parties agree that if either side decides to re-open negotiations making any changes in the Agreement, the other party may so notify the other at least ninety (90) days and no more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement or the extension thereof. In the event such notice to negotiate is given, then the parties shall meet not later than ten (10) days after the date of receipt of such notice, or at such reasonable times as are agreeable to both parties for the purposes of negotiation. All notices provided for in the Agreement shall be served upon the other party by registered mail, return receipt requested. While negotiations for a successor agreement continue, the terms of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect despite expiration of the term of this Agreement. Any impasses at said negotiations shall be resolved by invoking the procedures of Section 315/14 of the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act, as amended.

ARTICLE 28 SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any provision of this Agreement or any application thereof should be rendered or declared unlawful, invalid or unenforceable by virtue of any judicial action, or by any existing or subsequently enacted Federal or State legislation, or by Executive Order or other competent authority, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. In such event, upon the request of either party, the parties shall meet promptly and negotiate with respect to substitute provisions for those provisions rendered or declared unlawful, invalid or unenforceable.

ARTICLE 29 RETIREMENT COMPENSATION

Any employee who is separated from the Village in good standing shall receive either:

1) Two (2) months severance, if employed as a sworn police officer by the Village at least fifteen (15) years, or

2) Three (3) months severance, if employed as a sworn police officer by the Village at least twenty-five (25) years.

ARTICLE 30 RESIDENCY

Employees shall be required to reside within a 25 mile radius of the Village or within the corporate limits of any incorporated city or village that such 25 mile radius dissects and must reside within the State of Illinois.

ARTICLE 31 PHYSICAL FITNESS STANDARDS

The Village shall implement annual physical fitness standards during the term of this Agreement which shall be the same as those issued by the Illinois Law Enforcement Training & Standards Board. A copy of such standards is attached hereto as Appendix "D." Employees shall not be required to meet such standards, but any employee who volunteers to participate in the Physical Fitness Program who meets such standards shall receive eight (8) hours of regular pay in a lump sum payment. Employees who volunteer to participate in such program and who fail to meet the fitness standards shall not be subject to discipline on account of such failure. The Village reserves the right to require each member to submit to a medical examination on an annual basis. For the years 2010 and 2011 only, the physical fitness stipend shall be paid in compensatory time. On May 1, 2012, the payment of eight (8) hours of regular pay shall resume.

ARTICLE 32 RESTRICTED DUTY

Employees in the bargaining unit shall be permitted to work restricted duty if available in the event that they sustain an illness or injury, provided, however, employees suffering work related illness or injury shall have precedence over, and may bump, employees suffering non-work related illness or injury, in the event there is insufficient restricted duty work available. Such employees shall further be required to return to

regular duty when the employee is deemed medically able by the employee's doctor and/or the Employer's doctor.

Such restricted duty for non-work related illness or injury shall be limited to no more than 6 months in duration and is only available in those cases where a return to full duty within this maximum 6 month period is reasonably anticipated by the employee's doctor and/or the Employer's doctor.

<u>ARTICLE 33</u> NON-DISCRIMINATION

Section 33.1. Equal Employment Opportunity.

The Employer will continue to provide equal employment and promotional opportunity for all employees covered by this Agreement and will not discriminate in regard to color, race, sex, religion, age, disability or national origin. The Employer will also not discriminate against employees as a result of membership in the Council. Grievances under this Article may be processed up to but not including arbitration. Employees dissatisfied with the grievance may seek redress from the appropriate administrative agency.

Section 33.2. Use of Masculine Pronoun.

The use of the masculine pronoun in this or any other document is understood to be for clerical convenience only, and it is further understood that the masculine pronoun includes the feminine pronoun as well.

ARTICLE 34 PERSONNEL POLICIES

The Personnel Policies heretofore adopted by the Employer on November 3, 1994, and amended shall remain in effect for all covered employees except as specifically modified by this Agreement. In the event of a conflict between the Personnel Policies and the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement shall supersede the Personnel Policies. The Employer reserves the right to make, alter and enforce reasonable Personnel Policies except as modified herein.

ARTICLE 35 PRODUCTIVITY STANDARDS

The Employer and Council shall meet once annually to determine the guidelines for productivity standards and/or revise the existing standards. A Production Committee of Council representatives shall be elected by the membership and consist of not more than five (5) employees, a minimum of three (3) of which shall be employees affected by general patrol category. The Production Committee shall meet as often as needed to discuss standards and make recommendations to the Employer at the annual meetings. The Employer shall have final authority to establish such productivity standards and guidelines. Any member of the Production Committee shall be compensated at the applicable rate of pay for attendance at the annual meeting with the Employer, but shall not be compensated for attendance at other Production Committee meetings.

ARTICLE 36 **COMPLETE AGREEMENT**

The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter within the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Employer and the Union, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to, or covered by this Agreement.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have affixed their signatures this 20th day of June, 2024.

VILLAGE OF GLENDALE HEIGHTS

Village Presic

Village Clerk



ILLINOIS FRATERNAL ORDER POLICE LABOR COUNCIL

By:

Council Representative

Bargaining Unit Representative

3013 By: **Bargaining Unit Representative**

andre By Bargaining Unit Representative 395

Bargaining Unit Representative

APPENDIX A

ILLINOIS FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE LABOR COUNCIL 974 CLOCK TOWER DRIVE SPRINGFIELD, ILLINOIS 62704

I, ________, to deduct from my wages the amount of monthly dues set by the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council, for expenses connected with the cost of negotiating and maintaining the collective bargaining agreement between the parties, and to remit such dues to the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council as it may from time to time direct.

		Signed:		
Date:	Address:			
		City:		
		State:	Zip:	
		Phone(s):		

Please remit all dues deductions to:

Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council 974 Clocktower Drive Springfield, Illinois 62704 (217) 698-9433

<u>APPENDIX B</u> INDEMNITY/PPO PLAN

Maximum Lifetime Benefits		ive of Mental Health, Chemical Dependency
Maximum Annual Benefit Private Duty Nursing	Expenses \$10,000	
Maximum Annual Out-of-Pocket Expenses	Individual \$1,500	/ Family \$3,000
Deductible	\$250 for individua Accumulation for	-
Benefit Percentages	<u>PPO</u>	Non-PPO
Basic Coverage Hospital Room and Board Expenses - with authorization - without authorization Surgery Expenses - with authorization - without authorization Doctor Fee for 2nd Surgical opinion Outpatient Surgical Expenses Pre-admission Testing Home Health Care Expenses Hospice Care Expenses Birthing Center Expenses Extended Care Facilities Expenses	90% 90% 100% 70% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%	70% 40% 70% 40% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70%
Mental Health/Alcoholism/Chemical Dependen Dependency Treatment/Inpatient - with authorization - without authorization Dependency Treatment/Out Patient Prescription Drug Expenses Covered Expenses Well-Child Routine Health Screening Additional Requirements Pre-existing Conditions Coverage	90% 50% 80% six in firs	70% 40% 50% 70% t 12 months y up to first 12 months
Ambulance Transportation	to nearest	

HMO PLAN

Maximum Lifetime Benefits

Deductible

\$1,000,000 inclusive of Mental Health, Alcoholism and Chemical Dependency treatments

\$0

<u>APPENDIX C</u> GRIEVANCE FORM

<u>APPENDIX D</u> <u>ILLINOIS LAW ENFORCEMENT TRAINING & STANDARDS BOARD</u>

What Are the Standards?

- The actual performance requirement for each test is based upon norms for a national population sample.
- The applicant must pass every test.
- The required performance to pass each test is based upon age (decade) and sex. While the absolute performance is different for the eight categories, the relative level of effort is identical for each age and sex group. All recruits are being required to meet the same percentile range in terms of their respective age/sex group. The performance requirement is that level of physical performance that approximates the 40th percentile for each age and sex group.

See attached POWER CHART on following page

12-15-22	14.4	13.0	12.0	10.5	17.0	16.5	15.0	14.8
Reach 1-14-91	16.0	15.0	13.8	12.8	18.8	17.8	16.8	16.3
TEST: Sit and	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-5 9	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59
	MALE AGE	MALE AGE	MALE AGE	MALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE

1. SIT AND REACH TEST: This is a measure of the flexibility of the lower back and upper leg area. It is an important area for performing police tasks involving range of motion and is important in minimizing lower back problems. The test involves stretching out to touch the toes beyond the extended arms from the sitting position. The score is in the inches reached on a yard stick with 15" being at the toes.

2. ONE MINUTE SIT UP TEST: This is a measure of the muscular endurance of the abdominal muscles. It is an important area for performing police tasks that may involve the use of force and is an important area for maintaining good posture and minimizing lower back problems.

-	MALE	MALE AGE	MALE AGE	MALE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE
TEST: One Minute Sit Up Test	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59
1-14-91	37	34	28	23	31	24	18	13
12-15-22	33	30	24	19	24	20	14	10

3. ONE REPETITION MAXIMUM BENCH PRESS: This is a maximum weight pushed from the bench press position and measures the amount of force the upper body can generate.

	MALE AGE	MALE AGE	MALE AGE	MALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE
TEST: Bench	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59
Press 1-14-91	98%	87%	79%	70%	58%	52%	49%	43%
12-15-22	88%	78%	72%	63%	51%	47%	43%	39%

4. 1.5 MILE RUN: This is a timed run to measure the heart and vascular systems' capability to transport oxygen. It is an important area for performing police tasks involving stamina and endurance and to minimize the risk of cardiovascular problems. The score is in minutes and seconds.

	MALE	MALE AGE	MALE	MALE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE AGE	FEMALE	FEMALE
TEST: 1.5 Mile Run	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59
1-14-91	13:46	14:31	15:24	16:21	16:21	16;52	17:53	18:44
12-15-22	14:00	14:34	15:24	16:58	16:46	17:38	18:37	20:44

APPENDIX E - SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT

This side letter of Agreement is entered into this $\underline{12^{\prime\prime}}$ day of \underline{Dac} , 2012 between the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council representing Full-Time Patrol Officers in the Glendale Heights Police Department ("Labor Council") and the Village of Glendale Heights ("Village"), parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA") in effect from May 1, 2010 to April 30, 2013, to settle issues arising out of CBA Article 25 (Employee Testing) and General Order #1035 (Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace) in the Village of Glendale Heights Police Department. For the consideration set out herein, the Parties agree as follows:

- 1. That random alcohol shall be performed by breath analysis and drug testing shall be performed by urinalysis.
- 2. That reasonable suspicion alcohol and drug testing shall be conducted by blood analysis and urinalysis.
- 3. That alcohol concentration shall mean either grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood or grains of alcohol per 210 liters of breath.
- 4. This Side Letter of Agreement shall be attached to the Contract as Appendix E.

Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council

milit 2 lille

Village of Glendale Heights

May & Reale